
 

Meeting contact Nina Neisser on 01257 515140 or email nina.neisser@chorley.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY, 12TH DECEMBER 2017, 6.30 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, TOWN HALL, CHORLEY 
 

AGENDA 
 
APOLOGIES 

 
1 MINUTES OF MEETING TUESDAY, 7 NOVEMBER 2017 OF 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE   
 

(Pages 3 - 6) 

2 DECLARATIONS OF ANY INTERESTS 
 

 

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any pecuniary 
interest in respect of matters contained in this agenda. 
 
If you have a pecuniary interest you must withdraw from the meeting. 
Normally you should leave the room before the business starts to be 
discussed. You do, however, have the same right to speak as a 
member of the public and may remain in the room to enable you to 
exercise that right and then leave immediately. In either case you must 
not seek to improperly influence a decision on the matter. 
 

 

3 PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DETERMINED 
 

 

 The Director (Customer and Digital) has submitted eight items for 
planning applications to be determined (enclosed). 
 
Plans to be considered will be displayed at the meeting or may be 
viewed in advance by following the links to the current planning 
applications on our website.   
https://planning.chorley.gov.uk/online-
applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application     
 

 

 A 17/00464/FULMAJ - PINES HOTEL, PRESTON ROAD, 
CLAYTON-LE-WOODS, CHORLEY, PR6 7ED 

 

(Pages 7 - 40) 

 B 17/00913/OUT - LAND ADJACENT TO 8 MILLER AVENUE, 
ABBEY VILLAGE 

 

(Pages 41 - 52) 

 C 17/00924/FUL - CROSSFIELDS, BURY LANE, WITHNELL. 
CHORLEY, PR6 8BH 

 

(Pages 53 - 60) 

 D 17/00962/FULMAJ - LAND ADJACENT TO 13 AND 15 
HALLIWELL STREET, CHORLEY 

 

(Pages 61 - 68) 

https://planning.chorley.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application
https://planning.chorley.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application


 E 17/00925/FUL - 4-6 CLEVELAND STREET, CHORLEY, PR7 
1BH (REPORT TO FOLLOW) 

 

 

 F 17/00926/ADV - 4-6 CLEVELAND STREET, CHORLEY, PR7 
1BH (REPORT TO FOLLOW) 

 

 

 G 17/00961/FULMAJ - ARMLEE NURSERIES, WIGAN ROAD, 
CLAYTON-LE-WOODS, PR25 5SB (REPORT TO FOLLOW) 

 

 

 H 17/00999/FULMAJ - CHORLEY TECHNOLOGY AND 
BUSINESS CENTRE, EAST TERRACE, EUXTON 

 

(Pages 69 - 76) 

4 PLANNING APPEALS AND DECISIONS RECEIVED BETWEEN 31 
OCTOBER 2017 AND 30 NOVEMBER 2017 

 

(Pages 77 - 80) 

 To consider the enclosed report from the Director (Customer and Digital). 

 
 

5 ANY URGENT BUSINESS PREVIOUSLY AGREED WITH THE CHAIR   
 

 

 

GARY HALL  

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Electronic agendas sent to Members of the Development Control Committee Councillor 
June Molyneaux (Chair), Councillor Christopher France (Vice-Chair) and Councillors 
Martin Boardman, Charlie Bromilow, Henry Caunce, John  Dalton, Gordon France, Danny Gee, 
Tom Gray, Keith Iddon, Alistair Morwood, Mick Muncaster, Richard Toon, Paul Walmsley and 
Alan Whittaker.  
 
Electronic agendas sent to Development Control Committee reserves for information. 
 

If you need this information in a different format, such as larger print or 
translation, please get in touch on 515151 or chorley.gov.uk 
 
To view the procedure for public questions/ speaking click here 
https://democracy.chorley.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD852&id=852&rpid=0&sch=
doc&cat=13021&path=13021  
 

https://democracy.chorley.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD852&id=852&rpid=0&sch=doc&cat=13021&path=13021
https://democracy.chorley.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD852&id=852&rpid=0&sch=doc&cat=13021&path=13021


Development Control Committee Tuesday, 7 November 2017 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 
MEETING DATE Tuesday, 7 November 2017 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Councillor June Molyneaux (Chair), Councillor 

Christopher France (Vice-Chair) and Councillors 
Charlie Bromilow, John  Dalton, Danny Gee, Tom Gray, 
Keith Iddon, Alistair Morwood, Mick Muncaster, 
Paul Walmsley and Alan Whittaker 

 
RESERVES:  Councillors Jean Cronshaw and Graham Dunn 

 
OFFICERS:  Caron Taylor (Principal Planning Officer), Adele Hayes 

(Planning Services Manager) and Ruth Rimmington 
(Democratic and Member Services Team Leader) 

 
APOLOGIES:  Councillors Martin Boardman, Henry Caunce, 

Gordon France and Richard Toon  
 

17.DC.311 Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 10 October 2017 of Development Control 
Committee 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Development Control Committee held on 
10 October 2017 be approved as a correct record for signature by the Chair. 
 

17.DC.312 Declarations of Any Interests 
 
No interests were declared.  
 

17.DC.313 Planning applications to be determined 
 
The Director of Customer and Digital submitted thirteen reports for consideration.  In 
considering the applications, Members of the Development Control Committee took 
into account the agenda reports, the addendum and the verbal representations and 
submissions provided by officers and individuals. 
 

a 3f, 17/00464/FULMAJ - Pines Hotel, Preston Road, Clayton-le-Woods, Chorley, 
PR6 7ED 
 
At the request of the Chair this item was taken first.   
 
Registered speakers: John Boyd (Objector – 3 minutes), Alan Jones (Objector – 1 
minute), David Twinn (Supporter), Ray Ormston (Parish Councillor) and Chris Smith 
(Agent - 4 minutes).   
 

Agenda Page 3 Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee Tuesday, 7 November 2017 

RESOLVED (9:4:0) - Decision deferred to allow Members of the Development 
Control Committee the opportunity to visit the site of the proposals. 
 

b 3k, 17/00647/OUT - Land adjacent to 65 Studfold, Astley Village 
 
At the request of the Chair this item was taken second.   
 
Registered speakers: Linda Scanlan (Objector), Matthew Lynch (Ward Councillor).   
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) – That outline planning permission be refused.  The 
wording of the reason was delegated to the Director (Customer and Digital) in 
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Committee. 
 

c 3a, 17/00377/OUTMAJ - Land adjacent to Lady Crosse Drive, Lady Crosse 
Drive, Whittle-le-Woods, Chorley, PR6 7DR 
 
Registered speakers: Ian Facer (Objector). Gill Candlish (Parish Councillor) and 
Darren Muir (Agent).   
 
RESOLVED (10:0:3) – That outline planning permission be granted, subject to a 
Section 106 Agreement and conditions. 
 
Councillor Paul Walmsley left the meeting at 7.45pm.     
 

d 3b, 15/00162/OUTMAJ - Euxton Mill, Dawbers Lane, Euxton, Chorley, PR7 6EB 
 
Registered speaker: Neil Pike (Agent).   
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) – That outline planning permission be granted, 
subject to a Section 106 Agreement and conditions. 
 

e 3c, 17/00815/FUL - Land adjacent to 26/28 Spring Crescent, Whittle-le-Woods 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) – That full planning permission be granted, subject 
to conditions. 
 

f 3d, 17/00932/FUL - Go Ape, Rivington Lane, Rivington, Bolton, BL6 7RZ 
 
Registered speakers: Ben Davies (Applicant).   
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) – That full planning permission be approved, 
subject to conditions.   
 

g 3e, 17/00514/FULMAJ - Land 100m East of Wheelton House, Brinscall Mill 
Road, Wheelton 
 
Registered speaker: Ann Nikolakis (Applicant).   
 
RESOLVED (11:0:1) - That full planning permission be refused for the following 
reasons: 
1. The proposed development would be located within the Open Countryside 
(as defined by the Local Plan). The proposal does not fall within any of the 
types of development identified in policy BNE2 as being acceptable in the 

Agenda Page 4 Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee Tuesday, 7 November 2017 

Open Countryside. Insufficient reasons have been put forward to justify an 
exception to this policy. 
2. By reason of the remote and inaccessible nature of the application site, the 
proposal would give rise to an unacceptable degree of vehicle movements that 
would be both harmful to the rural character of the area, sustainability and 
highway safety. The proposal is therefore contrary to policy ST3, BNE1 of the 
Local plan and the Framework. 
3. Although the probability of a major accident is considered low, given the 
potential consequences of an explosion it is considered that the applicant has 
failed to demonstrate that the development can take place as applied for, 
without either a risk to the public or without putting the explosives facility in 
jeopardy contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

h 3j, 17/00616/FULMAJ - Mind Chorley, South Ribble and Blackburn, 208 Stump 
Lane, Chorley, PR6 0AT 
 
Registered speaker: Jim Banks.   
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) – That full planning permission be granted, subject 
to conditions. 
 

i 3h, 17/00490/FULMAJ - Garside and Son Plumbers, 5-9 Queens Road, Chorley, 
PR7 1JU 
 
RESOLVED (11:0:1) – That full planning permission be granted, subject to a 
Section 106 agreement and conditions. 
 

j 3i, 17/00806/REMMAJ - Gleadhill House Stud, Gleadhill House, Dawbers Lane, 
Euxton, Chorley, PR7 6EA 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) – That reserved matters consent be granted, 
subject to conditions. 
 

k 3j, 14/01011/FULMAJ - Land 340m East of Cuerden Farm, Wigan Road, Clayton-
le-Woods 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) – That full planning permission be granted, subject 
to a Section 106 agreement to secure either the provision of 10 affordable 
dwellings on site and an appropriate commuted sum or an off-site commuted 
sum, and a financial contribution towards the provision of public open space 
as detailed in the report. 
 

l 3l, 17/00812/FULMAJ - 127A Station Road, Croston 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) – That full planning permission be granted subject 
to conditions. 
 

m 3m, 17/00719/FUL - Land north of 125 Rawlinson Lane, Heath Charnock 
 
Registered speaker: Katie Lewis-Pierpoint (agent).   
 
RESOLVED (8:1:3) – That full planning permission be granted, subject to 
conditions. 

Agenda Page 5 Agenda Item 1



Development Control Committee Tuesday, 7 November 2017 

 
17.DC.314 Planning appeals and decisions received between 3 October 2017 and 30 

October 2017 
 
The Director of Customer and Digital presented a report which set out planning 
appeals and decisions received between 3 October and 30 October 2017.   
 
Three planning appeals had been lodged, one of which had made an application for 
costs.   
 
RESOLVED - That the report be noted.  
 

17.DC.315 Enforcement - 1-3 Moor Road, Chorley 
 
The Director of Customer and Digital presented a report which sought authority to 
take enforcement action in respect of the unauthorised use of 1-3 Moor Road, 
Chorley, PR7 2LW, and the unauthorised installation of 2no. extraction flues. 
 
RESOLVED – That it was expedient to issue an Enforcement Notice under 
section 172 of The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to remedy the breach 
of planning control to cease the use of the ground floor 1-3 Moor Road Chorley 
PR7 2LW as a hot food takeaway, Use Class A5, and remove 2no. extraction 
flues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair Date  
 

Agenda Page 6 Agenda Item 1



APPLICATION REPORT – 17/00464/FULMAJ 

 
Validation Date: 12 June 2017 
 
Ward: Clayton-le-Woods North 
 
Type of Application: Major Full Planning 
 
 
Proposal: Erection of a convenience retail store, a building comprising 40no. retirement 
apartments, car parking and associated infrastructure following demolition of all existing 
buildings and structures 
 
Location: Pines Hotel Preston Road Clayton-Le-Woods Chorley PR6 7ED  
 
Case Officer: Mr Iain Crossland 
 
Applicant: Mr Oliver Dickinson 
 
Agent: Mr Chris Smith 
 
 
Consultation expiry: 4 August 2017 
 
Decision due by: 11 September 2017 
 

 
UPDATE REPORT 
 
1. The recommendation remains to approve full planning permission. 
 
2. Members will recall that this application was deferred at the Development Control 

Committee meeting held on 07 November 2017 to allow time for Members to visit the site. 
The original committee report from 07 November 2017 follows on below.  

 
3. It was reported on the addendum that: 

 
4. 1 no. further letter of objection had been received setting out the following issues: 

 Highway impact 

 Impact on air pollution 
 

5. 1 no. further letter of support had been received. 
 

6. An email has also been received from Mr. Boyd at 558 Preston Road that included images 
of a scale model he has created to demonstrate the impact on his property. This has been 
circulated to the members of the committee. 

 
7. Since the application was considered at the previous committee, further comments have 

been received from Mr. Boyd stating that the Development Control Committee were misled 
when Mr. Smith (Agent) stated the McCarthy & Stone ridge height was lower than 558 
Preston Road. Mr. Smith's claim to the Committee that the majority of local residents were in 
favour of the development was also a misleading statement as many of the 'neighbour 
responses' were from people who are not local. 

 
8. The agent for the application Mr. Smith has responded and commented that Mr. Boyd’s 

calculations are based on an A4 print of the proposed McCarthy & Stone elevation and 
section drawings, which Mr. Boyd has measured with a ruler.  However, the scale on the 
relevant drawing is stated as being accurate when printed at A1, so should only be 
measured from a paper copy printed at A1 if an accurate measurement is to be recorded.   
 

Agenda Page 7 Agenda Item 3a



McCarthy & Stone’s measurements are sourced directly from detailed CAD drawings of the 
scheme and are confidently presented with millimetre precision.  Accordingly, McCarthy & 
Stone’s measurements must be favoured as a truly accurate assessment of heights etc; 
 

9. It is noted that the proposed plans show the ridge of the apartment building to be lower. This 
drawing would form part of any proposed plans and any development of the site would be 
expected to reflect this.  
 

10. In relation to the comments that local people are in support of the development. This was 
based on the neighbour responses received by the Council and referred to in the original 
report, which follows below. 
 

11. An objection has also been raised in relation to the impact of the proposed development on 
air quality and air pollution. 

 
12. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has viewed the objection and states as follows: 

 
13. The Council would support any implementation by any school to monitor air quality and also 

use the tools and information available to educate future generations and their families 
about the impact that they have on air quality and the links between air quality and health. 
We would always encourage personal responsibility for air quality, and many schools do 
already work with parents to encourage environmentally friendly travel schemes. 
 

14. As stated, Chorley Council has a responsibility to monitor and report on air quality across 
the entire borough, but this does not specifically require school grounds and areas around 
schools to be monitored. The monitoring sites in current operation are determined and 
reviewed dependent on traffic flow data provided by the highway authority in conjunction 
with other technical guidance and local knowledge. Chorley Council use passive diffusion 
tubes to monitor NOx, which predominantly relates to traffic levels. The monitoring is 
undertaken continuously at various locations across the borough including several locations 
in the Clayton-Le-Woods area.  
 

15. In addition, the Environmental Health team also provide guidance to the development 
control team on when and where air quality assessments are appropriate for developments 
sites. These usually depend on the likely significant increases in traffic and the current air 
quality data for the site and surrounding area.  For reference, the 2016 air quality progress 
report is available on the Council’s website and does not identify any exceedances of air 
quality objectives throughout the Chorley borough. 

 
16. A further letter of support was also received and a letter in objection referring to the impact 

on the local highway network. 
 

 
PREVIOUS REPORT 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions and a signed 

s106 agreement. 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
2. The application site comprises the now disused Pines Hotel buildings, car park and its 

formal gardens. The site is located in the core settlement area at Clayton Green to the east 
of the A6 Preston Road, close to the junction with Clayton Green Road and Westwood 
Road. The site is bounded by Preston Road and dwellings at 556 to 560 Preston Road to 
the west, Westwood Road to the north, Westwood Primary School to the east and dwellings 
at 11 and 13 Radburn Close to the south and east. There is an approximate 5.5m levels 
change across the site falling from the west to the east, and a 2.5m change across the site 
falling from the north to the south. 

Agenda Page 8 Agenda Item 3a



 
3. The site is characterised by the mature trees located to the periphery of the site. The original 

Pines Hotel building is a red brick villa of traditional character, however, this has been 
extensively and unsympathetically altered over the years to develop the site as a leisure 
complex. The buildings are located to the north of the site, with the formal gardens confined 
to the area to the south of the site between the rear of the dwellings on Preston Road and 
those of Radburn Close.  

 
4. The wider locality is characterised by mainly residential development that has been built 

through a range of era’s, and is reflected in a wide variety of building design styles from 
those of simple modern appearance to traditional stone cottages.     

 
5. The Clayton Green District Centre is located approximately 70m away to the north west, 

which comprises an ASDA supermarket, library, public house, and sports centre.   
 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
6. The proposed development seeks full planning permission for the erection of a convenience 

retail store, a building comprising 40no. retirement apartments, car parking and associated 
infrastructure following the demolition of all existing buildings and structures on the site. 
 

7. The convenience retail store would be located on a 0.8ha area of the site that currently 
accommodates the Pines Hotel building and associated function suite and car parking. The 
proposed foodstore would provide 2,125sqm gross Use Class A1 retail floorspace, all of 
which would be delivered at ground floor level.  

 
8. The apartments building would be located on the area of the formal hotel gardens on a 

roughly rectangular shaped plot of land of approximately 0.6ha that slopes down towards the 
southeast. The building would be part four storey, part three story and part two storey in 
response to the levels, and would measure approximately 58m by 23m. 
 

9. There would be a singular vehicular access to serve the whole site from Preston Road as is 
the case at present. 

 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
10. In total 124 representations have been received, with 73 in support, 55 in objection and 9 

raising matters of both objection and support to the proposed development. 
 

11. Those in support raised the following issues: 

 Convenient location because not everyone in the area drives or has access to a car. 

 An opportunity to address the busy A6 roundabout. 

 Accessible to bus stops 

 No impact on traffic 

 Would reduce trips to Leyland 

 Would like a Lidl nearby 

 Existing supermarket has a monopoly in the area 

 New supermarket would increase competition 

 Employment benefits 

 Visual improvement of the site 

 High quality homes for the elderly 

 Good opportunity for people to downsize their property.  
 
12. Those in objection raised the following issues: 

Highway objections 

 Increased accident risk particularly from construction traffic. 

 The roundabout could not cope with the additional traffic generated 

 Proximity of schools 

 Deliveries using main entrance to shop/development compromise safety 

Agenda Page 9 Agenda Item 3a



 Road busy at peak times, especially near primary schools 

 Number of motorists already speed on A6 and will increase with more traffic 

 Changes to roads are dangerous – increased difficulty for residents to enter/exit their 
driveways 

 Changes to road layout will result in more queuing particularly due to ghost-lane/island 

 Traffic calming required 

 Already congested and will be made worse 

 Trucks on road through night making deliveries 

 Increase in volume of traffic 

 Roads already carry lorries for other supermarkets so shouldn’t expect more to be on 
roads 

 Traffic from proposed IKEA and people visiting will add to traffic problems 

 No thought given to parents who may wish to shop after school or after drop off in 
morning – parents may park and walk kids to school 

 Inadequate parking on site 

 Sheephill Lane not suitable for lorries 

 Change in road markings and removal of hatched area near roundabout will cause 
accidents. 

 
Commercial element 

 Already have number of supermarkets in area. Do not need more.  

 Would prefer health centre or high school 

 Out of character with residential area 

 Jobs will be lost from local businesses, despite Lidl saying will create jobs 

 Will remove business from local independents 

 Will result in a drop in sales for other businesses, especially supermarket 

 Would prefer a more upmarket supermarket 

 Impact on nearby towns. 
 
Residential element 

 Due to height will overlook houses and cause properties to lose privacy  

 Dwarf other buildings – size of proposed flats unprecedented for residential dwellings in 
area – will make village look overdeveloped – dominate area and houses. 

 Overshadowing / overbearing impact on nearby residential properties. 

 Will alter outlook from residential properties nearby  

 Out of character with area 

 Concern that retirement properties are close to school grounds 

 Poor design  

 Colour scheme would not match with existing properties – disregard of impact design 
will have 

 Neighbours will not be able to escape view of apartments or being viewed upon by 
apartments. No longer secluded garden. 

 
General issues 

 Disruption from demolition and construction and site deliveries 

 The Pines is a building of historical importance – lose example of Victorian architecture 

 No consultation as to what community would have wanted 

 Will make area look industrial and no longer green – will create precedent and goes 
against policy BNE1 

 Impact on house prices 

 Drainage difficulties  

 Consider proposal to be example of garden grabbing 

 The Pines must be retained as a leisure use 

 The whole site should be residential 

 Loss of protected and unprotected trees 

 Crime and anti-social behaviour 

 Noise pollution from trucks, air conditioning, deliveries and collections 

 Light pollution from lights in the apartment block and lighting in the car parks. 

Agenda Page 10 Agenda Item 3a



 Air pollution from refuse and vehicles. 
 

13. A highway objection was received on behalf of ASDA stating that the application should be 
refused on highway grounds for the following reasons: 

 An increased number of vehicular movements to the site will increase the likelihood of 
conflicts between pedestrians and vehicles, increasing the probability of accidents and 
personal injury; 

 Parking is provided significantly under the parking standards, without demonstrating that 
this would not lead to overspill parking on the surrounding highway impacting on road 
safety and network operation. 

 Servicing arrangements would result in potential conflicts between customers, staff and 
delivery vehicles; 

 The trip rates used in the assessment are considered to under-estimate the likely impact 
of the development proposals; 

 The growth rates used in the assessment are considered to under-estimate the likely 
growth of background traffic and, therefore, the impact of the development proposals; 

 With mitigation, the A6 Preston Road / Clayton Green Road / Westwood Road junction 
is anticipated to operate over capacity, notwithstanding background and development 
trip concerns. 

 
14. A further objection was received from ASDA that set out the impact that the proposed 

development would have on the ASDA Clayton Green store and concluded as follows: 
Our objection to the application is that the proposed foodstore at the Pines Hotel site in 
Clayton-Le-Woods will have a significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of 
Clayton Green District Centre. This is a material consideration that warrants the refusal of 
the application under the terms of Section 38(6) of the Act. 
 
Asda has no objection to the development of a Retirement Village by McCarthy and Stone. 
A suggested approach therefore is to remove the proposed Lidl foodstore from the 
application to enable the application to be supported. 

 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
15. Conservation Officer: No objection 

 
16. Greater Manchester Ecology Unit: No objection subject to appropriate conditions. 

 
17. Waste & Contaminated Land Officer: I have reviewed the ground investigation reports and 

I am satisfied with their findings.  I have no objections to the development proceeding in line 
with the precautions outlined in the report.  
 

18. Lancashire Highway Services: No objection subject to appropriate conditions and the 
developer entering into a s106 agreement to pay £12,000 towards travel planning support. 
 

19. Lead Local Flood Authority: No comments received. 
 
20. Lancashire Constabulary Architectural Liaison: Advisory comments provided. 

 
21. Lancashire Fire And Rescue Service: Advisory comments provided. 
 
22. United Utilities: Following our review of the submitted Drainage Strategy, we can confirm 

the proposals are acceptable in principle to United Utilities. 
 

23. Regulatory Services: Environmental Health: No objection in principle to the application 
subject to appropriate conditions relating to a Construction Method Statement and hours of 
operation and delivery. 

 
24. Clayton le Woods Parish Council object to the application for the following reasons: 

 The development would be out of character with the area, would conflict with the Local 
Plan and is out of sympathy with local aspirations. 

Agenda Page 11 Agenda Item 3a



 The development would be harmful to highway safety in this location given the proximity 
to two primary schools. 

 There would be harm to the amenity of local residents living adjacent to the site 
therefore planning permission should be refused on this basis alone. 

 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Principle of the development 
25. The National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) is fundamentally based on a 

presumption in favour of sustainable development. As set out at paragraph 14, with regard 
to decision-making, this means granting planning permission unless: 

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies of this Framework taken as a whole; or 

 specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted. 
 
26. The application site is located in the core settlement area at Clayton Green, which is 

identified as an Urban Local Service Centre by Core Strategy Policy (d) where some growth 
an investment is encouraged.  

 
27. The proposed development is split into two distinct elements; the commercial retail element 

comprising the convenience retail store and the residential element comprising the 40 
retirement apartments. The assessment of the principle of development is therefore 
considered in two separate parts to reflect this.   

 
Commercial element 
28. The application site lies approximately 70m south east of the Clayton Green District Centre 

Boundary.  It is accepted the site is an edge of centre location. 
 

29. Relevant national policy for retail development is set out in paragraphs 23 to 27 of the 
Framework. For developments outside existing centres and not in accordance with an up-to-
date Development Plan, paragraph 24 requires the applicant to demonstrate there are no 
suitable sequentially preferable sites available. Paragraph 27 states that where an 
application fails to satisfy the sequential test, it should be refused.  
 

30. When considering out of centre proposals preference should be given to sustainable sites 
that are well connected to the town centre. As such in accordance with the Framework a 
proposal for new retail provision within an out of centre location requires a sequential test. 

 
31. Policy EP9 of the Chorley Local Plan 2012 - 2026 (Development in the edge of centre and 

out of centre locations) reinforces the guidance contained within the Framework and permits 
out of centre retail development within accessible locations, which do not harm the amenity 
of the area, and which do not detract from the function, vitality and viability of the town 
centre. 
 

32. A sequential assessment has been submitted with the application that makes specific 
reference to four local centre locations at Clayton Green District Centre, Great Greens Lane 
Local Centre, Chorley Old Road Local Centre and Lancaster Lane Local Centre. The 
applicant has considered sequentially preferable sites and premises that are suitable and 
available and which should be favoured over and above the application site. There are also 
no other sites for consideration. The local centres considered were found unsuitable for a 
range of reasons including being either too small, not available now or there are other 
physical or policy constraints. 

 
33. Paragraph 26 of the Framework is concerned with impact. Where a proposal is outside a 

town centre and not in accordance with an up-to-date Development Plan, an impact 
assessment is required if the development is over a proportionate, locally set threshold and 
in the absence of a local threshold, the default threshold is 2,500 square metres ("the 
threshold"). The proposed foodstore within the application falls below this threshold (and as 
noted later there is no local lower threshold). 

 

Agenda Page 12 Agenda Item 3a



34. The Framework is supported by the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). This states that the 
impact test only applies to proposals exceeding 2,500 square metres gross floorspace 
unless a different locally set threshold is set by the local planning authority (Paragraph 
reference ID: 2b-016-20140306). Reference to circumstances when an impact assessment 
may be required where a proposal is below 2,500 square metres (or below a locally set 
threshold), is absent from the Framework and the PPG. It is therefore clear that national 
policy does not require an impact assessment for retail proposals below 2,500 square 
metres, unless there is a locally set threshold (which there is not), even though a proposal 
may cause harm to a centre. 

 
35. Policy 11 of the Core Strategy is concerned with retail and town centre uses. This policy 

supports development of an appropriate scale to the retail hierarchy and in sustainable 
locations. The policy makes specific reference to key elements of the retail hierarchy. It also 
makes reference to maintaining and improving and controlling the mix of uses in existing 
District and Local Centres and proposed centres at Strategic Sites and Locations, so as to 
appropriately serve local needs. Clayton Green is identified as a District Centre in the town 
centres hierarchy. 
 

36. The Core Strategy does not provide a policy for dealing with retail proposals located outside 
of town centres (or sites identified for retail development). In addition, it does not set a local 
threshold, below which an impact assessment in terms of paragraph 26 of the Framework is 
not required. 

 
37. Policy EP9 indicates that outside District and Local Centres, changes of use and 

development for small scale shopping and town centre uses (either as part of mixed use 
developments or in isolation), will be permitted where the development meets a local need; 
there is no harm to the amenity of the area; and the sequential test and impact assessment 
are satisfied.  

 
38. The Local Plan retail and town centre policies do not provide a local threshold below which 

an impact assessment is not required. Overall, Development Plan policies do not set a local 
threshold relating to the assessment of impact. Consequently, the default threshold of 2,500 
square metres set by paragraph 26 of the Framework must apply. 

 
39. It is noted that an objection to the proposed commercial element of the proposal has been 

submitted by ASDA in relation to the impact on vitality of the Clayton Green District Centre 
and the ASDA store that is located there.  

 
40. The representations of ASDA set out an estimate of the turnover of the ASDA store at 

Clayton Green. This is estimated at about £34.8 million at 2017 rising to about £35.5 million 
in 2022. These figures are derived by assuming a convenience goods sales area of 3,043 
square metres (out of a total sales area of 4,682 square metres); and an average sales 
density of £11,427 per square metre (this is a 2015/16 figure derived from Mintel Retail 
Rankings 2017). 

 
41. There are a number of points to note: 

 The turnover estimate relates to convenience floorspace in the store only. Some 35% 
of the sales area is devoted to the sale of comparison goods. As a consequence, the 
total store turnover at 2017 is likely to be considerably higher than the £34.8 million 
set out in the Asda objection. 

 The assumed average sales density of £11,427 per square metre applies to all ASDA 
floorspace (convenience and comparison). Consequently, this may be a reasonable 
estimate to address the total store turnover. The total turnover of the store (all goods) 
at 2017 would be in the order of £53.5 million. 

 It appears that ASDA rely on published data, which does not reflect local 
circumstances rather than providing an indication of the actual turnover of this store. 

 
42. In their response to the ASDA objection, the applicant refers to evidence from the Preston 

City Centre Retail and Leisure Study 2013, which indicates that ASDA achieves a 
convenience turnover in excess of £51 million at 2017. They also refer to the Central 

Agenda Page 13 Agenda Item 3a



Lancashire Retail and Leisure Review (March 2010) and note that evidence from this study 
suggests that the store trades at a level approximately 20% above company average. This is 
historic information but nevertheless, illustrates the fact that ASDA is a successful store. 
 

43. With regard to other evidence, the South Ribble Retail Study 2017 (by WYG) indicates that 
the convenience turnover of ASDA at Clayton Green is in the order of £52 million at 2017. 
Evidence produced to support the proposed development at Cuerden produces a figure that 
is closer to the company average trading level. However, taken in the round, the evidence 
suggests that ASDA is probably trading at a level above company average for convenience 
floorspace, perhaps significantly above average. 
 

44. The applicant’s response to the ASDA objection does not dispute the assessed convenience 
turnover of Lidl within the ASDA objection of £9.2 million at 2017. However, it should be 
noted that the estimate applies the company average to the convenience element of the 
store. Total net floorspace is 1,488 square metres, which generates a total turnover of circa 
£11.5 million. 

 
45. ASDA assert that given the nature of the proposal in terms of its scale, format and location, 

a significant proportion of the turnover is likely to be diverted from the existing ASDA. They 
say it is not unreasonable to assume that at least 75% of the turnover would be drawn from 
ASDA. The suggestion that 75% of turnover would be drawn from Asda has no evidential 
basis, however. The trade draw from existing shopping facilities arising from a new proposal 
should be based on an analysis of existing shopping patterns. It should also have regard to 
guidance in the PPG that like will impact on like (Reference ID: 2b-015-20140306). 

 
46. In the first instance therefore, trade to the proposed development is most likely to be drawn 

from existing discount supermarkets. The response of the applicant refers to Lidl being 
aware of residents local to the application site travelling to existing Lidl stores elsewhere and 
other discount foodstores. They also note that this has been confirmed by residents through 
the public consultation exercise. There are existing Lidl stores at Churchill Way, Leyland and 
others further afield at Preston, Darwin and Standish. There are Aldi stores located at 
Harpers Lane, Chorley, Buckshaw Village, Cuerden Way, Bamber Bridge and Towngate, 
Leyland. It is therefore reasonable to conclude that these existing stores are most likely to 
experience trade diversion from the application. 

 
47. There is some information on convenience shopping patterns in the Clayton Green area 

within the South Ribble Retail Study (2017). Clayton Green falls within Zone 6 of the study 
area. The study shows that total available convenience expenditure arising within this zone 
is £45 million. ASDA at Clayton Green attracts £14 million of expenditure arising within this 
zone (about 35% of expenditure). Other significant destinations for convenience shopping 
within this zone include Tesco and Aldi at Buckshaw Village, various destinations at Leyland 
including Aldi and Lidl. On a simplistic and pro rata basis, it may be concluded that the trade 
draw from ASDA is likely to be in the order of 35%-40% of the turnover of the development 
as opposed to the 75% suggested by ASDA. 

 
48. Assuming the total turnover of Lidl is likely to be in the order of £11.5 million and that 40% 

would of this turnover would be drawn from ASDA, trade diversion would be approximately 
£4.6 million. Assuming a total turnover of ASDA (convenience and comparison goods) of 
circa £51 million, the trading impact would be about 9%. Consequently, it may be concluded 
that the proposed development is likely to divert about 9% of trade from Asda, as opposed 
to the 20% suggested in the Asda objection. In some circumstances a trading impact of 9% 
may be significant in terms of the centre affected. However, there is no suggestion that Asda 
is trading poorly, indeed the indications are the opposite and the evidence suggests this is a 
successful store. In these circumstances, an impact of 9% of trade is unlikely to have a 
significantly adverse effect on the vitality and viability or investment in the centre such as to 
justify refusing planning permission. 

 
49. In addition to this there is also the possibility of the District Centre benefitting from the 

presence of the application scheme through linked trips, whether they be on foot or by car. 
This is due to the difference in offer between the proposed retail convenience store and the 

Agenda Page 14 Agenda Item 3a



existing ASDA, and the additional trade that would be drawn into Clayton Green from 
elsewhere as set out above. 

 
50. In summary it is clear that in this case there is no requirement upon the applicant to address 

the issue of impact and it is considered that there is no evidential basis to support the 
assertions of ASDA that the proposal would have a significantly adverse impact such as to 
justify the refusal of planning permission. 
 

51. The overall aim of Policy EP9 is to minimise the need to travel, provide a diverse range of 
services in one central location and make facilities accessible to all. The approach is 
intended to sustain and focus growth and investment in local centres. It is considered that 
the applicant has addressed policy EP9 criterion a) and c) of the Chorley Local Plan 2012 - 
2026. The proposal meets a local need for convenience retail need as evidenced by the 
letters of support received and the available retail expenditure in this catchment area that is 
currently being diverted elsewhere. The site can be readily accessed in its catchment by 
walking, cycling or public transport. Given the scale of the proposed development, it would 
not detract from the function, vitality and viability of Clayton Green District Centre. The 
impact of the proposal on the amenity of an adjacent area – criterion b) EP9 is addressed 
later in the report. 

 
Residential element 
52. The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) states that housing applications 

should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. This means that development proposals that accord with the development 
plan should be approved without delay. 
 

53. Policy 1(d) of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy states that some growth and investment 
will be encouraged in Urban Local Service Centres to help meet housing and employment 
needs. Clayton Green is identified as one of the Urban Local Service Centres and therefore 
the proposed development is in line with this policy. 

 
54. The application site is not allocated within the Local Plan and its lawful use is as a hotel and 

leisure development with associated formal gardens. One of the core principles of the 
Framework is that development should be focussed in locations that are sustainable. It is 
considered that the site is located in a sustainable location within easy access of amenities 
such as shops, schools, churches and community facilities, and of public transport. The 
Framework also states that development in sustainable locations should be approved 
without delay. 
 

55. The proposed development cannot be considered against the provisions of Policy HS3 of 
the of the Chorley Local Plan 2012 – 2026, which deal with private residential garden 
development, and this policy relates to development within private residential gardens only, 
and not those associated with a commercial leisure operation. 

 
Design and impact on the character of the area 
 
Commercial element 
56. The proposed retail unit would be positioned on the northern edge of the site, occupying the 

corner between Preston Road and Westwood Road, within an area that currently 
accommodates a number of buildings and structures comprising the hotel and leisure 
complex. The proposed retail unit would be of contemporary design typical of modern 
commercial units incorporating full height glazing to the main shopfront, white render and 
grey panelling to other elevations and a shallow mono-pitched roof. This would result in a 
simple modern design that is not uncommon amongst modern retail units and suits the 
needs of current retail methods in a functional and efficient manner.  
 

57. The maximum height of the proposed retail unit would be 6.7m, which is lower than the 
height of a typical 2-storey dwelling house. However, due to the change in land level, the 
store floor level would be set at a lower level to Preston Road and the part of Westwood 
Road near to the junction, and lower than neighbouring buildings and, therefore, the building 

Agenda Page 15 Agenda Item 3a



will appear to be lower than neighbouring houses, and would not be prominent from Preston 
Road or on approaching the roundabout from the north and west. Indeed the proposed store 
would be less prominent that the existing buildings by virtue of its relatively low level height 
and reduced mass. 
 

58. There are a range of property types and styles in the area that have been developed over 
different periods of time from both traditional and modern dwellings to larger commercial 
and leisure units, such as the ASDA store and the sports centre, resulting in a mix of 
building designs and types across the locality. The existing building itself developed around 
a villa of impressive design, however, the significance and quality of this building has been 
eroded over time through a series of unsympathetic additions and alterations. Although the 
proposed retail unit would be a distinct departure from the existing building on the site, it 
would be unobtrusive in it’s appearance and scale would not compete with buildings of 
quality nearby on Westwood Road and Preston Road.     

 
59. The scale of the building is appropriate in the context of the site and surrounding structures, 

particularly given the degree to which the building is set-back in the site. The use of a 
shallow mono pitched roof as opposed to a dual pitched roof means that the height of the 
proposed building can be kept to a modest scale in keeping with neighbouring structures.   

 
60. Some of the better quality trees would be retained to the periphery with additional trees and 

landscaping added to provide a soft buffer between this part of the site and the highway. 
These would filter views from the highway and help to retain the character of the site. 
Proposed boundary treatments would be lower level to the front of the store and around 
Preston Road, with more secure fencing to the rear of the site. The boundary treatments 
proposed are appropriate and would not be visually incongruous. 

   
61. The commercial part of the proposed development would change the character of the site 

and result in a physical change to the appearance of the site. However, given the way in 
which the Pines has developed over time, and the regrettable damage to the character of 
the original building through continual alteration, its loss and replacement with the proposed 
retail unit is not considered to be harmful to the appearance of the site or character of the 
wider locality in the context of the variety of built form in this part of Clayton Green.  

 
Residential element  
62. The proposed development of the building comprising 40 retirement apartments would be 

centrally positioned to the southern part of the site in order to ensure that existing vegetation 
on the site perimeter is retained and to benefit from this mature landscaping in order to 
enhance the quality and setting of the building’s location. It is noted that there is a distinct 
levels change across this part of the site, and that the building has been designed in 
response to this change in levels by providing a lower ground floor level on the eastern 
elevation. The approach also enables the creation of different external spaces, with the 
landscaped car parking court located to the west of the building and private landscaped 
gardens to the east.  
 

63. The apartment building is of a modern design but has taken architectural cues from 
buildings in the locality through the use of characteristic gables and a palette of materials, to 
include red brick, render and slate coloured roof tiles. The two and three-storey frontage sits 
comfortably with the eaves and ridge heights of neighbouring properties, with projections 
and recessions breaking down the massing of the building, and would have an appropriately 
domestic character. 

 
64. Whilst the development achieves a higher density than is generally prevalent in the 

immediate area, it is able to achieve a more efficient use of land as a result of the type of 
accommodation proposed and the design of the scheme in adapting to the physical site 
constraints. As the proposed apartment building would be located quite far into the site, to 
the rear of dwellings on Preston Road, it would not be visually prominent from public areas 
being located some 75m from Preston Road and 100m from Westwood Road with 
intervening buildings and trees. Therefore given the scale, appearance and positioning of 

Agenda Page 16 Agenda Item 3a



the proposed apartment building there would be no harmful impact on the character of the 
locality. 

 
65. The apartment building and its associated car park would be located on the formal garden 

area of the hotel and leisure complex. The gardens were undoubtedly a pleasurable part of 
the site, for those that were able to benefit from using them, however, they have since 
become somewhat wild through lack of management. This in itself presents a degree of 
visual interest and landscape character, however, it is of little benefit to the public being 
private land and inaccessible. The proposed development would retain a high proportion of 
the best trees on the site and would bolster exiting peripheral landscaping for the benefit of 
existing and further residents. This would help to retain the sylvan character of the site. The 
boundary treatments proposed are suitably domestic and are considered appropriate.   

 
66. Overall the layout and design of the proposed development is considered acceptable and 

appropriate in the context of existing surrounding development and is in accordance with 
policy 17 of the Core Strategy and policy BNE1 of the Chorley Local Plan 2012 – 2026. 

 
Impact on neighbour amenity 
 
Commercial element 
67. The proposed retail unit would be located approximately 28m from the nearest dwelling at 

586 Preston Road. The retail unit would be set at a lower level to this property and given the 
degree of separation and relative positioning would have no impact on light, outlook or 
privacy. The retail unit would be positioned further from other dwellings and would therefore 
have no other physical impact on amenity. 
 

68. The proposed development has the potential to impact on neighbouring amenity through 
increased noise and disturbance. It is acknowledged that a new retail unit would result in the 
arrival and departure of customers, the delivery of goods and collection of waste and 
installation of fixed plant, that would differ from the noise and disturbance generated from a 
hotel and leisure complex when in use.  

 
69. The majority of activity would take place to the frontage on Preston Road, and between the 

proposed retail unit and proposed apartment building. Deliveries and plant would be 
concentrated to the east of the site away from dwellings.  
 

70. The applicant has submitted a detail noise assessment with the application that relates to 
the potential impact of the operational noise arising from mechanical services plant; 
servicing and customer cars. 

 
71. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer confirms that the noise assessment uses an 

appropriate assessment method in the form of BS4142 (British Standard 4142:2014 - 
Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound) to consider the noise 
impacts from customer car movements, fixed plant including an air conditioning unit, a heat 
pump and a dry cooler and noise from HGV deliveries. Two monitoring locations have been 
considered, the first being at 586 Preston Road to the north of the proposed Lidl Store and 
the second being the proposed McCarthy and Stone retirement village to the south. Noise 
from customer car movements and HGV deliveries have not be considered at 586 Preston 
Road due to the screening effect of the proposed Lidl store.  
 

72. The conclusions of the report based on the BS4142 assessment are as follows: 
 

 Noise from customer car movements at the proposed retirement village will result in an 
increase in noise levels of 0.1dB (Laeq) and is therefore not significant. Comment is 
also made that the calculations are conservative due to them being based on a 
comparison between car movements during the peak hour and the lowest daytime 
ambient noise level.  

 Noise from fixed plant at the nearest residential property will be 19dB(A) below the 
lowest ambient noise levels during the day and 17dB(A) below the lowest ambient noise 

Agenda Page 17 Agenda Item 3a



levels at night and will therefore not result in a significant increase in ambient noise 
levels. 

 Noise from HGV deliveries at the proposed retirement village will be 12dB(A) below the 
lowest ambient noise levels during the day and 6dB(A) below the lowest ambient noise 
levels at night and will therefore not result in a significant increase in ambient noise 
levels. 

 
73. It is accepted that the conclusions of the assessment in terms of noise from customer car 

movements and fixed plant and that the result of the BS4142 assessment for HGV 
movements indicates a low impact on existing dwellings. However, there is concern that the 
predicted internal noise levels of 34dB(A) at the retirement village arising from noise from 
deliveries at the proposed Lidl store, exceeds the recommended internal night time noise 
level of 30dB (Laeq) as outlined in BS8233 (British Standard 8233, Guidance on sound 
insulation and noise reduction for buildings).  
 

74. Although it is recognised that existing ambient noise from road traffic is likely to be the 
dominant noise source, it is considered that the nature of noise from deliveries is such that 
there is the potential to cause greater disturbance to the occupiers of nearby residential 
properties than general noise from traffic. It is therefore recommended that a condition 
restricting the hours of delivery, loading and unloading is attached to any grant of planning 
permission to restrict the impact of noise from deliveries upon the future occupiers of the 
proposed apartments. It is also recommended that conditions controlling hours of operation 
are attached to any grant of planning permission to ensure that the amenities of the 
neighbours are protected.  

 
75. All internal and external lighting, including the car park lighting, would be controlled by the 

store’s Building Management System. All external lighting would be controlled by timers and 
remote sensors. The timers ensure that the lighting would only operate during certain times 
of the day, with the remote sensors ensuring that lights only operate when natural day light 
falls below a pre-set limit. 

 
76. The Building Management System would permit all external lighting to switch on 1 hour 

before store opening (to assist the arrival of staff) and switch off 1 hour after store closing (to 
assist staff departures). Lighting would only automatically switch on if natural light levels are 
sufficiently low. Accordingly, the proposed lighting would not be illuminated overnight at any 
time and would only be illuminated during the day time if natural light levels fall below the 
pre-set sensor limit. 

 
77. On the basis of the above it is not considered that there would be any adverse impact on the 

amenity of existing and future residents through the development and operation of the 
proposed retail unit.  

 
Residential element 
78. The proposed apartment building would be located to the south of the application site, in the 

position of the formal gardens and would be positioned to the rear of three dwellings on 
Preston Road and to the sides of two dwellings on Radburn Close.  
 

79. The dwellings at 556 to 560 Preston Road are set in large plots and have rear gardens 
adjoining and overlooking the existing formal garden area at the Pines site. As such these 
properties enjoy views over the gardens, albeit filtered by trees and landscaping to the 
boundary. This provides a pleasant outlook for the occupiers of 556 to 560 Preston Road.  

 
80. The proposed apartment building would have a western elevation of 2 and 3 storeys facing 

the properties on Preston Road. The building would be located approximately 48m at it 
nearest point, which would be from the rear of 558 Preston Road and a part of the building 
that is 3 storey in height. The building would be approximately 28m from the rear garden 
boundary of this dwelling. The proposed apartment building would be set at a lower level to 
the properties on Preston Road, and as such the ridge and eaves height of the apartment 
building are lower than the ridge and eaves of the dwelling at 558 Preston Road.  

 

Agenda Page 18 Agenda Item 3a



81. The proposed apartment building would undoubtedly be visible from the properties on 
Preston Road and would impact upon the outlook that the occupiers of these dwellings 
currently enjoy, particularly that of 558 Preston Road. Given that the site is previously 
developed site in the settlement area that is no longer in use, it must be anticipated that the 
development of the site would inevitable at some stage. The proposed development would 
present a building of considerable mass, which would contrast greatly with the open views 
currently enjoyed, however, this would be positioned at a significant distance from the 
dwellings and gardens on Preston Road, when considered in the context of development in 
an urban location.  

 
82. To put this into context any alternative development of the site could include housing located 

in closer proximity that that which is proposed here. Such houses could be presented in the 
form of town houses not dissimilar in height and mass to the proposed apartments, or large 
detached houses with much reduced interface standards, depending on the position of 
windows. However, the applicant can only be assessed on the basis of what is proposed. 

 
83. Although the proposed development will impact on the outlook of the occupiers of 556 to 

560 Preston Road in contrast to the present situation, and that such change may be difficult 
for those occupiers to accept, it is not considered that this impact is so harmful, when 
considered in the context of urban development more generally, that it could be considered 
unacceptable and would warrant refusal of the application.       

 
84. There would be parallel facing windows between the two properties, however, the distance 

of approximately 48m far exceeds the Council’s 21m guideline standard, as does the 
distance between the apartments and the garden boundary at approximately 28m and a 
guideline distance of 10m. In addition to this there are trees that would be retained along the 
boundary that would filter views between the two sites. Given the significant degree of 
separation there would be no unacceptable impact on privacy. 

 
85. There would be a limited impact on light by virtue of the scale of the proposed building, its 

positioning to the east and presence of mature trees to be retained along the boundary.        
 

86. It is noted that a car park and turning area would be located between the proposed 
apartment building and rear gardens of properties on Preston Road, and that the site would 
become more actively used. This would be set at a lower level, approximately 25m from the 
dwellings at the nearest point. The effect of the level change would reduce the visibility of 
the car parking area and the cars that would use it to a point where its visual impact would 
be limited. In terms of the noise and disturbance generated the site would be in domestic 
use for retirement apartments. As such the level of noise and disturbance that would be 
generated from comings and goings is anticipated to be limited and would be consistent in 
the context of the residential part of the site. 

 
87. The proposed apartment building would be located approximately 22m north and west of the 

dwelling at 13 Radburn Close and approximately 20m from the garden boundary at the 
nearest point. It would be sited at a higher level to 13 Radbrun Close. The apartment 
building has been designed so that the section of the building closest to neighbouring 
properties on Radburn Close is one storey lower than the rest of the building. Accordingly, 
whilst the building as a whole extends up to 4-storeys in height, that part of the building 
closest to Radburn Close will be no more than 3-storeys. 

 
88. The proposed apartment building would be orientated so that its closest elevations to 13 

Radburn Close face due south and east. As such the apartment building would only be 
visible at an obscure angle from the rear windows of 13 Radburn Close and would not have 
any windows or elevations facing those windows in the rear elevation at 13 Radburn Close. 
As such there would be no impact on privacy in relation to the dwelling itself.  

 
89. Although the building would be visible it would only start to pass beyond an obscure angle of 

sight as it extends away from 13 Radburn Close at some distance away (approximately 
30m) when taking a 45 degree line from the near edge of the closest window to a habitable 
room at 13 Radburn Close. It is also noted that it is proposed to retain the existing mature 

Agenda Page 19 Agenda Item 3a



trees and shrubs along the site boundary, which provides substantial screening and filtering 
of views. This existing vegetation would be complemented by additional landscaping works 
and would be managed by the site owner (McCarthy & Stone) to ensure that the vegetation 
provides effective screening and maintains an acceptable standard of visual amenity. 

 
90. Therefore even in consideration of the levels difference between the site and 13 Radburn 

Close it is not considered that there would be an unacceptable impact on outlook. In addition 
to this, given that the apartment building would be located to the north west of the dwelling it 
is not considered that there would be an unacceptable impact on direct light in relation to the 
dwelling.  

 
91. There is some concern in relation to the impact of the apartment building in relation to the 

amenity that may be enjoyed in the rear garden at 13 Radburn Close, given that the building 
would directly face the garden and would be 3 storeys at this position. The apartment 
building has habitable rooms facing the garden at a distance of between 20m and 25m to 
the boundary. The Council’s guideline standards for such an interface is 10m, therefore it is 
considered that the additional distance over and above this standard provides an adequate 
degree of protection given the increased building height and levels, and the retention of 
substantial landscaping and mature trees along the boundary, which would effectively filter 
views.  

 
92. Again it is recognised that the contrast with the present situation, is such that there would 

undoubtedly be an impact upon the residents of 13 Radburn Close and that such change 
may be difficult for the occupiers to accept. It is not, however, considered that this impact is 
so harmful, when considered in the context of urban development more generally, that it 
could be considered unacceptable and would warrant refusal of the application.      

 
93. There is also a dwelling at 11 Radburn Close that bounds the site. This would be located 

approximately 24m to the south of the proposed apartment building. Given the relative 
positioning and degree of separation it is considered that there would be no adverse impact 
on the amenity of the occupiers of this dwelling.      

 
94. Any impact through noise and disturbance from the proposed apartments building would be 

limited to that of a domestic nature, which is appropriate in the context of residential 
dwellings. Noise and disturbance is also anticipated to be relatively limited even for a 
residential development given that the scheme is for retirement apartments aimed at over 
55’s. 

 
95. The lighting proposed as part of the residential element would include bollard lighting to the 

access road and car park area, with eyelid lighting attached to the building in other areas. 
Lighting of this type would be suitably unobtrusive to protect the amenity of future residents 
and would present an attractive appearance. It is not considered that the proposed lighting 
scheme would cause any harm to the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.   

 
96. On the basis of the above it is not considered that the proposed development would result in 

any harmful impact on the amenity of nearby occupiers to the extent that planning 
permission should be refused. 

 
Impact on highway safety 
 
97. A Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted setting out the transport issues relating to 

the proposed redevelopment. In line with its obligations, Lancashire County Council (LCC) 
has with regard to relevant policies analysed the TA and the associated application 
documents to ensure the proposed redevelopment does not potentially endanger safe 
movement of pedestrians, cyclists, residents, the general public and movement of goods on 
the highway network. The TA was therefore analysed taking into account the proposed 
access strategy, measures proposed to reduce need to travel by car, accessibility of the site 
by sustainable modes of travel such as walking, cycling and public transport; the impacts of 
trips associated with the redevelopment on the existing highway network and the applicant's 
proposed measures towards managing and mitigating such impacts. 

Agenda Page 20 Agenda Item 3a



 
98. Officers from LCC have undertaken a number of site visits as part of the highway authority 

assessments and a hosted joint meeting held on 11 September 2017 with the developers 
(Lidl) and their transport consultants (SCP) to address the initial highway concerns 
associated with the development proposal. 

 
99. Subsequent to the meeting SCP have submitted a Technical Note. The Technical Note has 

been studied to ensure that any amendments and additional measures put forward by the 
applicant are in line with discussions at the meeting and sufficient in detail in addressing the 
highway concerns.  

 
100. The site covers an area of 1.40 hectares and is located on the south east corner of the 

A6 Preston Road and the B5256 Westwood Road roundabout in Clayton Green. It is fronted 
by the A6 Preston Road, adjoined to the east by the Westwood Primary School and 
bordered to the north by the B5256 Westwood Road. Across the B5256 Westwood Road, 
north of the site are residential houses and the St Bede's RC Primary Schools and Church. 
To the north west of the site lies the Clayton Green Business Park that incorporates offices, 
the Clayton Green Library and the Clayton Green Sports Centre. The Business Park is 
adjoined by an ASDA Superstore to the west, while the south of the site is occupied 
predominantly by residential houses. 

 
101. The site frontage is lined with trees some of which are subject to Tree Preservation 

Orders. Preston Road is subject to a 40mph speed limit and Westwood Road to a 30mph 
speed limit. 

 
102. The TA investigates the Personal Injury Accidents in the area for the past 5 years, 

during which there were 9 recorded traffic accidents all resulting in slight injuries. The details 
of the accidents are in paragraph 2.10 of the TA. The accident analysis shows that five 
involved cyclists or pedestrians. The TA concluded that the accidents raised no concerns. 
LCC do not agree with this statement and raised this with the developer at the meeting. 

 
103. In response to LCC's concerns, the applicant pointed to proposed pedestrian/cyclist 

improvement schemes at the roundabout, shown on proposed drawing, SCP/16329/SK04 
(02.06.2017), which include improving the existing traffic islands on Clayton Green Road 
and Westwood Road into pedestrian refuges with tactile paving to facilitate crossing, 
providing pedestrian refuges in both directions of the site access on Preston Road and also 
at the site access to enable safe crossing. The applicant noted that these measures should 
be adequate for improved pedestrians/cyclists safety. The highway authority considers the 
revised measures sufficient and acceptable, but requested the proposed pedestrian refuge 
located north of the site access to be positioned nearer the right turn lane to provide 
protection against southbound traffic colliding with traffic turning right into the site. This 
would require possible repositioning of the pedestrian walkway from the site closer to the 
refuge. The applicant was also requested to improve the existing traffic island at the Preston 
Road south end of the roundabout (opposite 572 Preston Road) to a pedestrian refuge with 
tactile paving in similar manner as those proposed for Clayton Green Road and Westwood 
Road to accommodate safe crossing of Preston Road by pedestrians heading to Clayton 
Green Road from Westwood Road and vice versa. The implementation of these measures 
should see improvements in the current rate of pedestrians/cyclists accidents at the 
roundabout. LCC therefore considers the measures adequate to mitigate the impact of the 
development. 
 

104. The developer commissioned a traffic speed survey on Preston Road within the vicinity 
of the site to establish the speed at which vehicles were travelling. Analysis of the survey 
shows that the 85th percentile speed of vehicles travelling south to be 32.35mph and 33.68 
mph for northbound traffic. Based on on-site observations LCC are satisfied that these 
results are representative of existing traffic conditions.  

 
105. The applicant also undertook traffic turning counts at the Preston Road/Westwood 

Road/Clayton Green Road roundabout to establish existing traffic levels. The survey data in 

Agenda Page 21 Agenda Item 3a



appendix 1 of the of the TA have been checked with the existing peak hour trip generation 
figures shown in paragraph 2.7, Table 2.1 and found to be satisfactory. 

 
106. Developments of this nature generally have their greatest impact in the weekday 

evening peak hour (usually 17:00–18:00) and in the midday Saturday peak hour. The 
developer has based their impact analysis around these hours and as such LCC are 
satisfied that appropriate time periods have been assessed. 

 
Site access 
107. The site is currently accessed from Preston Road, but as part of the proposed access 

strategy, the existing access is to be improved to reflect the proposed use and to ensure that 
HGVs can be accommodated. The improvements include provision of right turn lane on 
Preston Road to facilitate entry into the site, a pedestrian refuge in each direction of the 
access and a central refuge to enable pedestrians to safely walk from one end of the access 
to the other. The exit lane of the access includes provision for left and right turns. The layout 
of the site access is generally acceptable, however, LCC expressed concern, given the 
residential element of the proposal about left turning traffic having to utilise significant 
portion of the right turn lane to be able to exit as shown on drawing SCP/16329/ATRSK03 
(02.06.2017). 
 

108. The applicant explained that the location of the Lidl Distribution Centre means that 
HGVs bringing deliveries to the site will come from the direction of the roundabout and 
return in the same direction and as such will not usually be required to turn left at the 
access. If the need arise for delivery vehicles to turn left, the applicant maintained that 
vehicles would simply have to wait for traffic to clear before making the turn. It is anticipated 
that there would only be one dedicated delivery to the site per average day which would 
increase to two during busy periods such as Easter and Christmas. To limit HGV turns at the 
access and curtail delays, there will be no deliveries to the site during busy trading hours 
and traffic peak hours and refuse/waste generated at the site would be taken away by the 
same vehicles that bring deliveries. LCC accepts this explanation and agreed that if the 
access was to be further widened for left turning vehicles to be fully accommodated in the 
left turn lane, there may be implication for pedestrians crossing at the access who would 
require prolonged periods to complete the crossing. 
 

109. The applicant has demonstrated that visibility splays of 2.4m x 70m to the south and 
2.4m x 71m to the north can be achieved. This is acceptable given the 85

th
 percentile 

speeds shown above and the fact that the applicant has indicated on drawing, LD-07175-
SPACE-00-XX-DR-A-91-0001-S3-P7 rev. P7 that some of the existing trees currently 
obscuring visibility are to be removed. The highway authority therefore accepts the 
arrangement of the proposed site access. 

 
Traffic Impact Assessment 
110. The TA presents the existing and the proposed trip generation that could be expected 

for the proposed development during the weekday peak hours of 17:00 – 18:00 and 
Saturday peak hours of 11:15–12:15. TRICS trip rates (TRICS or Trip Rate Information 
Computer System is a database of trip rates for developments for transport planning 
purposes, specifically to quantify the trip generation of new developments) were used to 
estimate the trips generated by the previous use as a 35-bed hotel, while trips to be 
generated by the proposed convenience store were estimated based on an average of 11 
existing surveyed Lidl Store sites. The estimate shows that the existing 35-bed hotel 
generated 14 and 13 two-way trips respectively during weekday AM and PM peaks, with 27 
and 21 two-way trips generated during Saturday AM and PM peaks. 
 

111. The average trip rate calculated from an average of 11 existing Lidl Stores at different 
parts of the country as in appendix 8 is noted. However, the highway authority's attention 
has also been drawn to a TA produced by the same SCP consultants, submitted in relation 
to similar Lidl convenience retail store elsewhere in Todmorden in West Yorkshire which 
shows higher trip rates for the existing Lidl Store sites that could have been applied in the 
case of the current proposal than the TRICS based rates used as shown in paragraph 5.7 
(Table 5.3) of the TA. If the higher trip rates in that TA were to have been used for this 

Agenda Page 22 Agenda Item 3a



proposal, the estimated trip generation as shown in paragraph 5.8 (Table 5.4) of the TA 
would have been higher. In order not to lead to an underestimation of the likely trip 
generation potential of the proposed development, the applicant was requested to reassess 
the trip rates. 

 
112. The applicant explained that the trip rates for the Todmorden TA were based on three 

existing sites in Wrexham, Wallasey and Holywell and are higher than those used in this 
application. However, the trip rates used in this application are based on a much larger area 
of 11 existing store sites and are more recent than those used for Todmorden. Nonetheless, 
the applicant has carried out the reassessment as requested by LCC using a more up to 
date (2016) trip rates of six Lidl stores currently available on the TRICS database.  

 
113. The estimated trip rates and trip generation based on the six Lidl stores in TRICS 2016 

are shown in paragraph 24 (Table 1) and paragraph 25 (Table 2) respectively of the 
submitted Technical Note and shows lower values both for the trip rates and the trip 
generation than indicated in the submitted TA. From the results shown, it is not considered 
the trip generation potential of the proposed development would be underestimated. 
Therefore, the estimated trip rates and the trip generation figures based on the six Lidl 
stores in TRICS 2016 are accepted. 

 
114. In response to LCC query as to why the TRICS trip rates were based on the selection 

criteria of 'retail floor area' (RFA) instead of 'gross floor area' (GFA), the applicant explained 
that, Lidl stores always base TRICS trip rates on the selection criteria of 'retail floor area' as 
it produces a more accurate assessment and would not lead to the impact of the proposed 
development being underestimated. The highway authority raise no objection to the use of 
the RFA.  

 
115. As indicated above, the hotel ceased operating in August 2016, therefore, in order to 

provide a robust assessment of the likely traffic impact, trips predicted to be generated by 
the proposed development should be viewed as completely new without having to deduct 
existing flows associated with the previous use of the site as a hotel. It is therefore not 
considered that the comparison made of trip generation of the proposed development with 
the existing hotel in the TA was necessary. 

 
116. The proposed site access will be shared with a residential development of 40 retirement 

apartments comprising of 23no. 1-bedroom and 17no. 2-bedrooms with parking for 32 
vehicles. Traffic which would be generated by the residential development has been 
considered at this stage to see how it would impact the proposed commercial development. 
The applicant used a 12 hour (07:00-19:00) survey of six Retirement Living Housing 
developments carried out in 2015 and 2016 at different locations in the country, which 
shows the average trip generation for an apartment within the 12 hour period to be 1.54.  It 
was anticipated that there would be few additional movements outside the 12 hour period. 
Based on this, the applicant estimates that the proposed 40 retirement living apartments 
would generate in the region of 62 vehicle movements per the 12 hour period, which in the 
case of the proposed development means that at the peak period between 17:00 and 18:00, 
the retirement apartments would generate two arrivals and one departure for the whole of 
the residential part of the site. This level of trips is considered negligible and as such not 
considered in the capacity assessments. LCC have no issues with this aspect. 
 

117. With regards to trips associated with the proposed development, the applicant assumed 
that 50% of trips new to the highway network will be introduced as a result of the proposed 
development and as the proposed convenience retail store is on a route leading to Preston 
and Chorley, 50% of trips would constitute pass-by trips and would have already existed on 
the highway network. While the assumption is acceptable, the applicant appears to have 
only assessed the impact of pass-by trips on the proposed site access without assessing the 
impact of trips on the Preston Road/Westwood Road/Clayton Green Road roundabout which 
is in close proximity of the site. This was raised with the applicant and has now been 
addressed in the Technical Note. As shown in paragraph 30 (Figure 1), using the PM peak 
only due to it being worse case than the Saturday peak, the pass-by trips are estimated as 
70% of the non-primary trips with 30% being diverted towards Clayton Green Road and 

Agenda Page 23 Agenda Item 3a



Westwood Road. The highway authority agrees with the applicant that the 30% diverted trips 
which equates to 8 trips will have minimal impact on the operation of the roundabout. 

 
Trip distribution and assignment 
118. The percentage of new and pass-by trip distribution shown appendixes 10.1 and 10.2 of 

the TA are noted and also the percentage trip assignments shown in appendixes 10.3 and 
10.4. The total development trips shown in appendix 10.5 are also noted. No highway 
objection is raised to these figures. 

 
 
 
Traffic growth 
119. The applicant has used a specialised software, TEMPRO v7.2 to calculate background 

traffic growth from the survey year of 2017 and applied base flows to obtain flows for the 
design year of 2023 which were then used to assess the impact of the proposed 
development. The applicant's growth estimate was based on the wider Chorley area. It was 
however considered using growth rates for a more localised area of Clayton Green and 
Whittle-le-Woods might produce higher growth factors than indicated in paragraph 5.27 
(Table 5.10) of the TA. There are a number of retail outlets in the area and using the lower 
growth factors in assessing the junction capacity would most likely produce higher capacity 
estimates and ultimately affect the assessment of the impact of the proposed development. 
The applicant was therefore requested to reassess the traffic growth. The TEMPRO was re-
run and the growth estimate recalculated based on a more localised area as requested. 
 

120. The growth factors obtained for the re-run are higher than those previously used in the 
TA for the 2017-2023 survey and design years. The comparative growth factors are shown 
in paragraph 35 (Table 3) of the Technical Note. The change in the growth factors has 
resulted in an increased Passenger Car Unit (PCU) movement through the roundabout in 
the PM peak by 34 in 2023 and by 30 in the Saturday peak period. The applicant however 
states that notwithstanding this increased PCU, given the reduction in PCUs due to the 
reduced trip rates following use of the 2016 Lidl TRICS trip rates, the 'actual' increase in 
PCU movement at the roundabout would be by 28 for both weekday and Saturday peaks 
which would be distributed over all arms of the roundabout. Although the increased PCU in 
the 2023 base year is of highway concern, from the trip distribution and assignment 
diagrams in appendix 10, it is not considered the PCU increase of 28 in 2023 will lead to 
severe queues and delays at the roundabout. The applicant's calculation of the traffic growth 
is therefore accepted. 

 
Committed developments 
121. The applicant makes no assessment of committed developments that have potential to 

generate trips that can lead to possible. The land to the front and east of the St Bedes 
Roman Catholic Primary School, a total of 1.3 hectares have been allocated in the Chorley 
Local Plan 2012-2026 for housing development under Policy HS1.29 for 23 houses. It is 
however not considered traffic to be associated with the 23 houses would have major 
implication for traffic flows at the roundabout. LCC advise that the applicant would not 
therefore be required to make additional provision towards mitigating traffic impacts of the 
23 houses. 

 
Impact of development trips 
122. An assessment of the impact of the development traffic on the junction of the site 

access and Preston Road; and the Preston Road/Westwood Road/Clayton Green Road 
roundabout have been carried out using specialist software. The capacity of the junctions 
were assessed as part of the excise to establish how the junctions would operate during the 
assessment year of 2023 (in accordance with the Department for Transport’s Guidance on 
Transport Assessment, which states “for the local transport network, a development should 
be assessed with regard to the LDF, and for a period of no less than five years after the date 
of registration of a planning application”; the future assessment year for this TA is 2023). 

 
123. The result of the assessment shows the highest ratio of flow to capacity (RFC) of the 

junction of the site access and Preston Road as 0.32 in respect of vehicles leaving the site 

Agenda Page 24 Agenda Item 3a



and turning right onto Preston Road. This value is within the range of 0 – 0.85 usually 
considered acceptable to indicate the junction will operate without problems. As an 
indication of possible queues at the junction is when the range of values is between 0.85 – 
1.0, looking at the estimated values derived from the assessment as shown on Table 6.1, 
paragraph 6.5 of the TA, it is considered that the impact of the development trips on the 
junction of the site access and Preston Road during the assessment year of 2023 would be 
minimal. 

 
124. In terms of the impact of the development trips on the Preston Road/Westwood 

Road/Clayton Green Road roundabout, it is generally accepted that at locations where the 
value of RFC is in excess of 1.0, there would be congestion at the junction with queues 
leading to delays. The result of the assessment of the roundabout as on Table 6.3, 
paragraph 6.8 of the TA shows RFC values for the assessment year of 2023 as high as 0.95 
for southbound traffic on Preston Road and 0.96 for northbound traffic on Preston Road 
which shows that the roundabout currently operates close to capacity. 
 

125. As a result of the reassessment of the growth factors, trip rates and trip types 
necessitated by the use of the 2016 Lidl TRICS Trip Rates, the model has been re-run in 
line with the changes. The updated output is shown in paragraph 43 (Table 4) of the 
Technical Note. The output shows that Preston Road in the north direction will operate with 
an RFC of 0.95 with a queue of 13.1 PCU during the PM peak in the assessment year of 
2023 without development trips. If the development trips are added, this would rise to 0.97 
RFC with a queue of 17.4 PCU. These values are similar to those in the submitted TA and 
shows that by the year 2023, the roundabout would operate very close to capacity with 
queues. While this is of concern to the highway authority, the applicant's observation that 
the queues would occur over two lanes and will not be too long as to obstruct driveways etc. 
is acceptable. 

 
Traffic impact mitigation 
126. To mitigate the impact of development trips on the Preston Road/Westwood 

Road/Clayton Green Road roundabout, the applicant proposes to carry out physical 
improvements to widen the existing single lane entries for Preston Road south approach and 
Clayton Green Road approach to the roundabout. This proposal is acceptable and is shown 
on drawing no. SCP/16329/F01 rev. A (06.04.2017). 

 
Sustainability/Accessibility by Non-Car Modes 
Pedestrians and cyclists 
127. The site is in a District Centre within acceptable walking distance of other shops, local 

services and amenities and there are good quality footways in the area to contribute to 
conductive routes for pedestrians to and from the site. To further improve accessibility and 
facilitate safe crossing of the road, the applicant proposes to install two pedestrian refuges 
outside the site on Preston Road and a central refuge at the site access with associated 
dropped kerbs and tactile paving to assist pedestrians and cyclists. Improvements are also 
proposed to the existing traffic islands on Clayton Green Road and Westwood Road. 
 

128. The above improvements are acceptable, however, LCC Highways recommend that 
similar improvement should be carried out to the existing traffic island at the Preston Road 
south end of the roundabout (opposite 572 Preston Road) to a pedestrian refuge with tactile 
paving to facilitate safe crossing for pedestrians and cyclists from Westwood Road to 
Clayton Green Road and vice versa. Pedestrians and cyclists heading in these directions 
are unlikely to walk towards the site access to cross Preston Road at the proposed 
pedestrian refuge north of the site access due to its distance from the roundabout and the 
fact that they would most likely follow their desire lines and cross at the existing traffic island. 
In addition, the existing dropped crossing of 572 Preston Road should be reinstated with 
new kerb realignments. The existing dropped crossings at the Preston Road north end of the 
roundabout should also be provided with tactile paving to make the crossings on all four 
arms of the roundabout continuous and consistent. It is recommended that the details of 
such improvements are set out in a scheme required by condition. The implementation and 
funding of these works would be negotiated with LCC through a Section 278 agreement.    

 

Agenda Page 25 Agenda Item 3a



129. LCC has plans to extend the existing cycle route from the Westwood Primary School to 
the Preston Road/Westwood Road/Clayton Green Road roundabout. Discussions took place 
as to whether the developer should be asked to contribute towards implementing this 
scheme for improved sustainability of the site. As LCC is yet to take a firm decision on the 
proposed cycle route and the fact that the roads in the area are generally suitable for 
cycling, it was agreed that cyclists should have no difficulties accessing the site. The 
applicant is therefore not expected to contribute towards the extension of the cycle route as 
the measures proposed are considered adequate to ensure accessibility of the site both on 
foot and by bike. 

 
 
Public transport 
130. There are three bus stop locations within 200m walking distance of the site to the north 

and south on Preston Road and on Westwood Road. The bus stop on Clayton Green Road 
to the west is under 300m walking distance of the site. From these stops, frequent and 
regular services are provided to various destinations Mondays to Saturdays, with evening 
and Sunday services.  
 

131. LCC considers that for accessibility, there is adequate public transport provision close to 
the development, however, to further encourage the use of public transport LCC considers it 
appropriate to require the developer to upgrade these bus stops with raised boarding areas 
to assist those with mobility issues and meet the requirements of the Framework. The 
Framework requires developers to maximise their efforts in creating a modal shift toward 
more sustainable modes of travel. It is recommended that the details of such improvements 
are set out in a scheme required by condition. The implementation and funding of these 
works would be negotiated with LCC through a Section 278 agreement.    

 
Car parking 
132. Policy ST4 of the Chorley Local Plan states that proposals for developments should 

make parking provision in accordance with set standards. The standard with respect to A1 
food retail development is for parking to be provided on a scale of 1 space per 14m2 gross 
floor area of the proposed development plus 6% of total provision for the disabled. Based on 
the proposed scale of development, a total of 161 spaces would be required to include 9 
spaces for the disabled. In addition, spaces for a minimum of 2 bicycles and 2 motorcycles 
are required. The applicant however proposes 99 including 6 spaces for the disabled. The 
proposed number is clearly below standard requirement, but to support the number 
proposed, the applicant has undertaken parking accumulation exercise to demonstrate that 
the highest number of vehicles that would require parking on site would occur on Saturdays 
between 11.30 – 11.45 and this number would be 68. As this number is significantly less 
than the 99 spaces proposed, the applicant considers that the proposed number would be 
more than enough to cater for the site's parking needs without parking being displaced onto 
adjacent roads. 
 

133. The policy also states that locations that are more sustainable and well served by public 
transport may be considered for lower level of parking provision if there are good quality 
footways with street lighting, good quality cyclists provision, good quality bus stops within 
short distance of the site with frequent services etc. There is evidence these local 
circumstances exist in the area, as such, it is not considered that highway objection to the 
proposal on the basis of inadequate number of parking spaces alone can be sustained. As 
such, the proposed 99 car parking spaces is acceptable. 

 
Servicing 
134. The service area is located to the east of the building, but looks small in size with 

possible overrunning of car parking spaces by delivery vehicles. The safety implication of 
this arrangement was raised with the applicant, who explained that since the number of 
deliveries to the store per average day will only be a maximum of two with no deliveries 
being made during busy trading periods adequate room will be made available prior to 
arrival to ensure deliveries are safely conducted. It is considered that this is would result in 
an acceptable arrangement. 

 

Agenda Page 26 Agenda Item 3a



Stage 1 Road Safety Audit 

135. The developer commissioned an independent Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (RSA) on the 
proposed access and highway works. The RSA raised a number of concerns. The 
applicant's response to the RSA is noted. Whilst some of the recommendations have been 
accepted, others have either already been designed for in the proposal or not accepted by 
the applicant. It should be stressed that the findings of a RSA should be implemented in 
order to eliminate as much as possible of all associated risks. The highways authority 
therefore welcomes the applicant's statement in paragraph 3 of the submitted Designers 
Response to the safety audit that all issues raised in the safety audit can be satisfactorily 
addressed through technical approval and further safety audit process. 

 
Section 278 agreement 
136. All works within the highway, including works associated with the site access and to the 

roundabout would be carried out through an s278 legal agreement with LCC. 
 
Construction 
137. During the construction period significant vehicle movements will take place. To ensure 

that the movements can be facilitated safely LCC consider it appropriate for a Construction 
Management Plan (CMP) including a Construction Method Statement (CMS) to be in place 
and adhered to. To facilitate the safe movement of vehicle at the site access it is 
recommended that the site access works (right turn provision and refuges) be in place prior 
to construction taking place. The remaining highway works would need to be in place prior to 
the development opening. It is recommended that the provision of a Construction Method 
Statement is required by condition. 

 
Travel plan 
138. The submitted framework travel plan is in line with LCC's submission criteria, therefore, 

a full travel plan should be developed along the timescales outlined within the framework 
travel plan. Based on the size of proposed development, the LCC request £12,000, secured 
through an s106 agreement to provide a range of services to support the developer in 
providing the full travel plan. It is considered that this is necessary to make the development 
acceptable in highway terms, and that the necessary funding for the services of LCC are 
secured through a s106 agreement. 

 
Conclusion 
139. To conclude there are no highway objections to the proposed development subject to 

the provision of suitable mitigation and on the basis that appropriate highway safety 
measures are implemented and a full travel plan is developed. The proposal is, therefore, 
considered acceptable in relation to parking and highway safety.  

 
Ecology 
140. An Ecological Assessment has been submitted with the application and reviewed by the 

Council’s ecology advisor. The assessment has identified a number of potential ecological 
issues, including bats, nesting birds, Japanese knotweed, mammals and loss of trees and 
that issues relating to bats, other mammals and mitigation for loss of trees should be 
resolved prior to determination. 
 

141. The building and woodland were assessed for bat roosting potential.  This determined 
the risk was moderate to high and therefore required further emergence surveys for the 
building and activity surveys for the woodland. Emergence surveys were subsequently 
carried out. The ecology advisor confirms that no evidence of bats roosting within the 
buildings was identified, and that no further surveys are therefore required.  However pre-
cautionary measures are recommended, and are proposed to be secured by a condition. 
 

142. The initial assessment identified the possible presence of fox, rabbit and hedgehog, the 
latter a UK Biodiversity Priority species. The species identified are not protected under UK 
Wildlife law.  They are, however, protected under UK mammal welfare law (Wild Mammal 
(Protection) Act 1996). Further survey work has established that no mammal holes have 
been recorded on the site. Evidence of badgers using the site was recorded in the form of 
badger dung and pathways across the lawns. There are also gaps beneath the boundary 

Agenda Page 27 Agenda Item 3a



fence to the east, which suggest that it is likely that badgers forage on the site. As badgers 
and other mammals forage across the site it is considered that measures to minimise the 
impact on wild mammals should be set out in a method statement prior to the 
commencement of any earthworks in the area of the formal gardens. 

 
143. As bat roosting and bird nesting opportunities would be reduced due to the proposed 

development the Council’s ecology advisor recommended that either four integral bat boxes 
should be incorporated in the new buildings, or four bat boxes should be installed on 
suitable retained trees. Specifications and suggested locations are provided in the Bat 
Survey Report provided. Bird boxes should also be installed on suitable retained trees and a 
lighting strategy should be designed to avoid illuminating the trees and bat boxes. This can 
be controlled by a condition. 

 
144. Japanese knotweed was located on the site, within the footprint of “phase 1”, the 

convenience store.   This species is listed under Schedule 9 part 2 of the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981, as amended. It has since been determined that the knotweed is 
located on the boundary of the adjacent school site and that this has been recently treated.  

 
Landscaping and trees 
145. The proposed landscaping has been designed to integrate with the proposed scheme 

and is sympathetic to the character of the area, retaining the better quality trees across the 
site. The landscaping plan would provide a high standard of amenity, providing an attractive 
and pleasant outlook for the benefit of local residents and future occupiers. 
 

146. There are a number of protected trees across the site some of which would require 
removal in order to facilitate development, however, a high proportion of the trees would be 
retained and additional trees would be planted, along with new shrubs, plants and bulbs 
across the site. On balance it is considered that the level of tree retention and removal is 
reasonable and adequate in the context of the proposed development and would retain an 
acceptable level of public amenity from trees.  
 

147. It is noted that the existing landscaping of the site has become neglected and is in need 
of management. One of the benefits of the type of development proposed is that the 
applicants would retain ownership of the landscaped areas of the site and would actively 
manage these areas throughout the lifetime of the development. 

 
Impact on designated heritage assets 
148. The Pines Hotel, whilst once a quite fine Victorian gentlemen's residence has been 

seriously compromised by expansive 20th Century additions and alterations, to such an 
extent that any historic interest that it once held is now almost entirely extinguished. 

 
149. The proposed building is considerably lower in height than the Pines Hotel such that its 

impact on the listed former hand-loom weaver’s cottages on Preston Road is likely to be less 
than is currently the case. This factor combined with the retention of existing trees and 
proposed landscaping would allow the proposed development to sit comfortably in the 
location and cause no harm to the setting of the listed buildings. 

 
150. It is therefore considered that the proposed development is in conformity with S.66 of 

the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, S.12 of the Framework, 
policy 16 of the Core Strategy and policy BNE8 of the Adopted Chorley Local Plan 2012 - 
2026. 

 
Affordable housing 
151. Due to the size of the residential element of proposal there is normally a requirement for 

affordable housing to be provided. However, the Council’s previous approach to retirement 
development schemes has been that the nature of what is proposed is a restrictive form of 
housing that is not openly available market houses. In addition it is unlikely that a Registered 
Social Landlord (RSL) would engage on such a scheme and restrict the housing for 
occupiers aged 55 years and over. It is therefore not considered appropriate to request that 
affordable housing is provided on site or that a financial contribution is justifiable. 

Agenda Page 28 Agenda Item 3a



 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
152. The Chorley CIL Infrastructure Charging Schedule provides a specific amount for 

development. The CIL Charging Schedule was adopted on 16 July 2013 and charging 
commenced on 1 September 2013. The proposed development will be a chargeable 
development and the charge is subject to indexation in accordance with the Council’s 
Charging Schedule.  

 
Other matters raised 
153. Inadequate capacity and position of sewer from the site into Radburn Close: United 

Utilities have confirmed that they have considered this site in detail and state that the 
original site appears to have drained both foul and surface water from the Pines Hotel into 
Radburn Close. The proposal is to drain foul water only from the supermarket and the 
residential apartments. It is considered that this will significantly reduce the risk of flooding 
because the main risk lies with the disposal of surface water, which will now drain to the 
nearby watercourse. 
 

CONCLUSION 
 
154. The proposed development would result in the redevelopment of a brownfield site in a 

sustainable urban location. The commercial element of the development would have the 
benefit of providing additional convenience retail choice, and would create local employment 
opportunities. Despite there being some impact on the Clayton Green District Centre this is 
not considered harmful to the extent that this would warrant refusal of the application and it 
is noted that the location is edge of centre. 
 

155. The residential element would have the benefit of providing housing specifically 
designed for people of retirement age, for which there is an increasing demand. This has the 
advantage of freeing up other housing stock as households seek to downsize. Overall the 
proposal would have no unacceptably detrimental impact on the amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers and would not harm the appearance of the site and character of the area. In 
addition the highway safety concerns have been adequately addressed. On the basis of the 
above, it is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions and a 
s106 legal agreement to secure the necessary support from LCC to enable the provision of 
a full travel plan. 

 
 
RELEVANT POLICIES:  In accordance with s.38 (6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
(2004), the application is to be determined in accordance with the development plan (the Central 
Lancashire Core Strategy, the Adopted Chorley Local Plan 2012-2026 and adopted 
Supplementary Planning Guidance), unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Consideration of the proposal has had regard to guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) and the development plan. The specific policies/ 
guidance considerations are contained within the body of the report. 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY OF THE SITE 
 
Ref: 95/00227/ADV Decision: PERADV Decision Date: 19 May 1995 
Description: Display of advertisement sign, 
 
Ref: 06/00592/TPO Decision: REFTRE Decision Date: 6 July 2006 
Description: The felling of Scots Pine covered by TPO6 (Chorley) 1982 
 
Ref: 5/5/10516 Decision: CLO Decision Date: 14 March 1974 
Description: Swimming Pool 
 
Ref: 01/00330/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 1 June 2001 
Description: Construction of verandah to front. 
 
Ref: 95/00534/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 6 May 1997 

Agenda Page 29 Agenda Item 3a



Description: Erection of conservatory to front, 
 
Ref: 99/00651/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 19 October 1999 
Description: Two storey extension to provide an additional 12 bedrooms and remarking of 
existing car park to provide an additional 15 spaces, 
 
Ref: 03/00573/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 23 July 2003 
Description: Erection of single storey side and rear extension and and new entrance canopy 
to front 
 
Ref: 03/00854/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 19 September 2003 
Description: Erection of single storey extension to side of property 
 
Ref: 04/00499/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 29 July 2004 
Description: Proposed internal alterations and single storey front, rear and side extensions, 
to provide toilets and beer cellar, 
 
Ref: 06/00515/FUL Decision: REFFPP Decision Date: 6 July 2006 
Description: Replacement entrance gate posts, walls and lighting, 
 
Ref: 07/01026/TPO Decision: PERTRE Decision Date: 9 November 2007 
Description: Removal of limb on pine tree T17 covered by TPO6 (Clayton Le Woods) 1982 
 
Ref: 07/01096/TPO Decision: REC Decision Date:  
Description:  
 
Ref: 09/00400/ADV Decision: PERADV Decision Date: 17 July 2009 
Description: Erection of new fascia board to west elevation incorporating new signage. 
 
Ref: 09/00452/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 16 July 2009 
Description: Alterations to existing boundary wall to incorporate pillars, railings and gates, 
decorative stone ball coping stones and illuminated glass ball toppers at entrances (highest 
point 2.65m). Widening of existing entrance to Preston Road, external alterations to west 
elevation of hotel including rendering, new windows/french doors incorporating Juliet balconies. 
 
Ref: 13/00901/TPO Decision: WDN Decision Date: 21 November 2013 
Description: To be advised 
 
Ref: 92/00945/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 30 March 1993 
Description: Front extension to form offices 
 
Ref: 92/00947/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 30 March 1993 
Description: Side and rear extension to existing banqueting suite 
 
Ref: 92/00946/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 30 March 1993 
Description: Rear extension to form bistro 
 
Ref: 89/00149/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 23 May 1989 
Description: Two storey side extension and use of former squash club and garages as 
bedrooms and coffee lounge 
 
Ref: 89/00141/ADV Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 21 June 1989 
Description: Display of illuminated and non illuminated signs 
 
Ref: 89/00277/TPO Decision: PERTRE Decision Date: 14 April 1989 
Description: Removal of Poplar and Lime trees 
 
Ref: 87/00006/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 3 February 1987 
Description: New cellar 
 

Agenda Page 30 Agenda Item 3a



Ref: 79/01324/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 7 January 1980 
Description: Office, laundry black and staffroom extensions 
 
Ref: 74/00178/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 26 June 1974 
Description: Covered swimming pool 
 
Suggested Conditions 
 

No. Condition 

1.  The proposed development must be begun not later than three years from the date 
of this permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2.  Prior to the commencement of development of the retail unit hereby approved, 
other than demolition and enabling works, samples of all external facing and 
roofing materials (notwithstanding any details shown on previously submitted 
plan(s) and specification) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. All works shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the 
details as approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the materials used are visually appropriate to the locality. 
 

3.  Prior to the commencement of development of the residential building hereby 
approved, other than demolition and enabling works, samples of all external facing 
and roofing materials (notwithstanding any details shown on previously submitted 
plan(s) and specification) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. All works shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the 
details as approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the materials used are visually appropriate to the locality. 

 

4.  The car parking and vehicle manoeuvring areas that have been marked out in 
accordance with the approved plan reference LMS/200 received on 28 April 2017 
shall be retained in accordance with this plan and shall thereafter not be used for 
any purpose other than the parking of and manoeuvring of vehicles.  
 
Reason: To ensure adequate on site provision of car parking and manoeuvring 
areas and highway safety. 
 

5.  No temporary refrigeration units are to be used in the outdoor areas of the retail 
store service yard other than in exceptional circumstances (such as the failure of 
internal refrigeration units). In such exceptional circumstances full written 
permission will be sought from the Local Planning Authority prior to, or within 24 
hours of, the temporary refrigeration units being used in the outdoor areas of the 
service yard. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of nearby residential 
accommodation. 
 

6.  Deliveries, servicing and collections to and from the retail unit hereby permitted, 
including waste collections, shall not take place outside the following hours: 
07:00 to 23:00 – Monday to Saturday 
08:00 to 18:00 – Sundays 
Where exceptional circumstances require deliveries/servicing/collections to take 
place outside these stated hours, full written permission will firstly be sought from 
the Local Planning Authority.    
           
Reason: Based upon the submitted information and to safeguard the amenities of 

Agenda Page 31 Agenda Item 3a



the occupiers of nearby residential accommodation. 

 

7.  The retail unit hereby permitted shall only operate between 07:00 and 22:00 
Mondays to Saturdays and between 10:00 and 17:00 on Sundays.  
 
Reason:  In the interests of the amenity of the area and adjoining and nearby 
residential properties. 
 

8.  The external lighting to the convenience retail store and associated car parking 
area hereby approved shall only be illuminated between the following hours: 
07:00 to 23:00 – Monday to Saturday 
08:00 to 19:00 – Sundays 
 
Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of local residents. 
 

9.  The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in conformity with the 
proposed ground and building slab levels shown on the approved plan(s) or as 
may otherwise be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority before any 
development is first commenced. 
 
Reason: To protect the appearance of the locality and in the interests of the 
amenities of local residents. 
 

10.  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
details contained in the Bat Presence/absence Survey I Innovation Group 
Environmental Services ref. E-14096 received. This shall specifically include the 
following measures: 
• The fascia around the existing hotel building (building B1 in the approved 
report) shall be removed by hand 
• Any mature trees to be removed should be assessed for bat roosting 
potential including aerial inspection if appropriate 
• Provision of bat boxes 
• Provision of a lighting strategy demonstrating negligible impact on bat 
foraging habitat 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with these measures unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: Due to the presence of bats that are protected under European and 
domestic legislation (Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (amended) 
2012 and Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981), and the need up to date survey data 
and appropriate mitigation. 
 

11.  No works to trees or shrubs shall occur between the 1st March and 31st August in 
any year unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced ecologist has 
been carried out immediately prior to clearance and written confirmation provided 
that no active bird nests are present which has been agreed in writing by the LPA. 
 
Reason: To prevent harm to British birds nests and eggs, which are protected by 
Section 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981. 
 

12.  The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in 
accordance with principles set out in the submitted Foul & Surface Water Drainage 
Design Drawing NW-2307-SE-03-001, Rev E - Dated 26.04.17 which was prepared 
by SWF Consulting. For the avoidance of doubt and unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, surface water must drain at the restricted 
rate of 15 l/s and no surface water will be permitted to drain directly or indirectly 
into the public sewer. The development shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved details or in accordance with an alternative scheme that has received the 
prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Agenda Page 32 Agenda Item 3a



Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue 
increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding. 
 

13.  Prior to the occupation or use of the development hereby permitted a sustainable 
drainage management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning authority and agreed in writing. The 
sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan shall include as a 
minimum:  
a. The arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a Resident’s Management 
Company; and 
b. Arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its ongoing 
maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system (including 
mechanical components) and will include elements such as ongoing inspections 
relating to performance and asset condition assessments, operation costs, regular 
maintenance, remedial woks and irregular maintenance caused by less sustainable 
limited life assets or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the surface 
water drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.  
 
The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved plan. 
 
Reason: To manage flooding and pollution and to ensure that a managing body is 
in place for the sustainable drainage system and there is funding and maintenance 
mechanism for the lifetime of the development. 
 

14.  No part of the retail unit hereby approved shall be occupied before all walls and 
fences, associated with the retail parcel of the site have been erected in 
accordance with the approved details. Fences and walls shall thereafter be 
retained in accordance with the approved details at all times. 
 
Reason: To ensure a visually satisfactory form of development and to protect the 
amenities of occupiers of nearby property. 
 

15.  All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping 
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the 
occupation of any buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the 
earlier, and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion 
of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and 
species. 
 
Reason: In the interest of the appearance of the locality. 
 

16.  During the construction period, all trees to be retained shall be protected in 
accordance with British Standard BS 5837:2012 or any subsequent amendment to 
the British Standards. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the trees to be retained. 
 

17.  The existing soil levels around the base of the trees to be retained shall not be 
altered. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the trees to be retained. 
 

18.  The respective parking and associated manoeuvring facilities shown on the plans 
hereby approved shall be surfaced or paved, drained and marked out and made 
available in accordance with the approved plan prior to the occupation of the 
dwelling(s) or first use of the retail unit they serve; such parking facilities shall 
thereafter be permanently retained for that purpose (notwithstanding the Town and 

Agenda Page 33 Agenda Item 3a



Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015). 
 
Reason:  To ensure provision of adequate off-street parking facilities within the site. 
 

19.  No development shall take place including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for: 
i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
ii. hours of operation (including delivers) during construction 
iii. loading and unloading of plant and materials  
iv. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  
v. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate  
vi. wheel washing facilities  
vii. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction  
viii. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works. 
ix.         a management plan to identify potential ground and water contaminants; 
details for their storage and how water courses will be protected against 
spillage incidents and pollution during the course of construction; 
x.         the routing of construction vehicles and deliveries to site. 
 
Reason: in the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of the 
nearby residents. 
 

20.  No part of the development hereby approved shall commence, other than 
demolition and enabling works, until a scheme for the construction of the site 
access consistent with the proposals illustrated by drawing SCP/16329/SK03 and 
the off-site works of highway improvement consistent with the proposals illustrated 
by drawing SCP/16329/SK04 have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority and Highway Authority that 
the final details of the highway scheme/works are acceptable before work 
commences on site. 
 

21.  No part of the development hereby approved shall commence, other than 
demolition and enabling works, until a timescale for the construction of the site 
access and the off-site works of highway improvement has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway 
Authority. The highway improvements shall thereinafter be constructed in 
accordance with the agreed timescale.  
 
Reason: In order to satisfy the Local Planning Authority and Highway Authority that 
the final details of the highway scheme/works are acceptable before work 
commences on site. 
 

22.  The Framework Travel Plan as approved must be implemented in full in 
accordance with the timetable within it unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. All elements shall continue to be implemented at all times 
thereafter for as long as any part of the development is occupied or used/for a 
minimum of at least 5 years.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development provides sustainable transport options. 
 

23.  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in full accordance with the 
recommendations of the Ground Investigation Reports (Project No: 16-707 and 
Project No: 16-014) received on 02 May 2017, or in accordance with an alternative 
scheme that has received the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.  

Agenda Page 34 Agenda Item 3a



 
Reason: To protect the environment and prevent harm to human health by 
ensuring that the land is remediated to an appropriate standard for the proposed 
end use. 
 

24.  Prior to the commencement of any earthworks on the part of the site that would be 
developed for residential use and the associated car park hereby approved a 
method statement detailing measures to minimise the impact on wild mammals 
shall be submitted to and agreed in writing to the LPA. The agreed method 
statement shall be adhered to and implemented in full unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the LPA. 
 
Reason: to minimise unnecessary suffering to wild mammals. 
 

Agenda Page 35 Agenda Item 3a



25.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

Title Drawing Reference Received date 

Location plan LD-07175-SPACE-
00-XX-DR-A-91-
0004-S3-P11 

28 April 2017 

Proposed site plan (Retail) LD-07175-SPACE-
00-XX-DR-A-91-
0001-S3-P71 

12 June 2017 

Proposed roof plan LD-07175-SPACE-
00-RF-DR-A-01-
0003-S3-P31 

28 April 2017 

Proposed ground floor plan LD-07175-SPACE-
00-GF-DR-A-01-
0001-S3-P31 

28 April 2017 

Proposed elevations LD-07175-SPACE-
00-XX-DR-A-02-
0001-S3-P31 

28 April 2017 

Boundary treatment plan LD-07175-SPACE-
00-XX-DR-A-91-
0003-S3-P21 

28 April 2017 

Proposed site section A LD-07175-SPACE-
00-XX-DR-A-91-
0006-S3-P1 

06 July 2017 

Proposed site section B LD-07175-SPACE-
00-XX-DR-A-91-
0007-S3-P1 

06 July 2017 

Proposed lighting layout N/A 02 May 2017 

Outline drainage strategy 09-98-500 Rev.B 28 April 2017 

Landscape details R/1981/1 28 April 2017 

Landscape drawing  LMS 003 28 April 2017 

Tree protection plan 9096/02 Rev.A 28 April 2017 

Site context plan LMS/001 28 April 2017 

Masterplan LMS/200 28 April 2017 

Drainage layout NW-2307-SE-03-001 
Rev.E 

28 April 2017 

Proposed site plan 
(Residential) 

MS/NW2307-01-03-
AC-001 

28 April 2017 

Detailed landscape plan MS/NW-2307-01-03-
AC-002 

28 April 2017 

Proposed elevations 1 MS/NW2307-01-03-
AC-005 

28 April 2017 

Proposed elevations 2 MS-NW2307-01-03-
AC-006 

28 April 2017 

Proposed lower ground floor 
plan 

MS/NW2307-01-03-
AC-007 

28 April 2017 

Proposed ground floor plan MS/NW2307-01-03-
AC-008 

28 April 2017 

Proposed first floor plan MS/NW2307-01-03-
AC-009 

28 April 2017 

Proposed second floor plan MS/NW2307-01-03-
AC-010 

28 April 2017 

Proposed roof plan MS/NW2307-01-03-
AC-011 

28 April 2017 

Proposed site sections MS/NW2307-01-03-
AC-012 

24 July 2017 

Proposed residential lighting 
plan 

MCS-CHORLEY-
EXTERNAL V2 

13 September 2017 

Agenda Page 36 Agenda Item 3a



 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
 

 
 
 

Agenda Page 37 Agenda Item 3a



This page is intentionally left blank



C

R

S

T

O

N

E

H

O

U

S

E

 
G

R

E

E

N

W

E
S

T
W

O

O

D
 
R

O

A
D

R

A

D

B

U

R

N

 
C

L

O

S

E

P
a
t
h

R

A

D

B

U

R

N

 

C

L

O

S

E

C

R

C

L

A

Y

T

O

N

 

G

R

E

E

N

 

R

O

A

D

P

R

E

S

T

O

N

 
R

O

A

D

1:1250 @ A1 SCALE
0m 10m 20m 40m 60m 80m 100m 150m

0m 10m 20m 30m 40m 50m

April 20171:1250 and 1:500 @ A0

IDP

LMS/001

Planning

Site Location and Context

Proposed Redevelopment of
The Pines Hotel,
Preston Road,
CHORLEY

© McCarthy & Stone Retirement Lifestyles Limited
All rights reserved.  The reproduction of all or any part of this

drawing/document and/or construction of any building or part of a building
or structure to which this drawing/document relates without the written

permission of the copyright owner is prohibited.

ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE
WORK TO FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY

REPORT DISCREPANCIES TO THE
ARCHITECT AT ONCE BEFORE PROCEEDING

T: +44 (0)24 7652 7600   E:info@idpgroup.com

www.weareidp.com

PROJECT MANAGERS.

URBAN DESIGNERS.

WE ARE IDP.

ARCHITECTS.

IDP GROUP  27 SPON STREET  COVENTRY  CV1 3BA

PLANNERS.

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS.

IDP

LOCATION PLAN 

Scale 1:1250 @ A0

CONTEXT PLAN Scale 1:500 @ A0

A
genda P

age 39

A
genda Item

 3a



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPLICATION REPORT – 17/00913/OUT 

 
Validation Date: 13 September 2017 
 
Ward: Wheelton And Withnell 
 
Type of Application: Outline Planning 
 
 
Proposal: Outline application for erection of two detached houses and a detached dormer 
bungalow (with all matters reserved) 
 
Location: Land Adjacent 8 Miller Avenue Abbey Village   
 
Case Officer: Mr Iain Crossland 
 
 
 
Applicant: Mr F and J Fisher 
 
Agent: Mr Peter E Gilkes 
 
 
Consultation expiry: 12 October 2017 
 
Decision due by: 15 December 2017 (Agreed extension of time) 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. It is recommended that the application is approved subject to conditions. 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
2. The application site is located within the settlement boundary, and on the edge, of Abbey 

Village and is also within Abbey Village Conservation Area.  
 

3. The application site comprises 0.15ha of pasture land that is currently used for grazing. It is 
relatively flat and does not accommodate any buildings. The site is the north-western corner 
of a wider field that totals 0.4ha which is also within the applicant’s ownership. 
 

4. To the north-east of the site are the dwellings at Miller Avenue and Cherry Grove. To the 
south-east and south-west the site is bound by the undeveloped land also in the Applicant’s 
ownership, whilst the north-west of the site is bound by the Withnell Nature Reserve. 

 
5. It is noted that an outline application for the erection of three detached dwellings accessed 

from Miller Avenue was refused by the Development Control Committee in May 2017. This 
decision is currently the subject of a live appeal.  

 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
6. The application seeks outline approval with all matters reserved for the erection of three 

dwellings. Therefore, details of appearance, access, landscape, layout, and scale are 
reserved and are not for consideration at this time. Only the acceptability of the principle of 
providing three residential dwellings on the site is for consideration. 
 

7. The applicant is seeking approval for three dwellings comprising two detached dwellings 
and a detached dormer bungalow, with the intention of retaining the rest of the land in their 
ownership (but outside of the site) as grazing for their own horses. 

 

Agenda Page 41 Agenda Item 3b



8. An indicative layout has been submitted showing the three dwellings located to the northern 
element of the site, adjacent to 8 Miller Avenue, and accessed from a new road that would 
be continuation of Miller Avenue. It is noted that stables are shown on the indicative plan, 
outside of the application site. These would need to be subject to a separate application 
and are not for consideration as part of this application.  

 
9. Whilst details of layout and scale have not been applied for the application submission does 

state that each of the two detached houses would provide 4 bedrooms with a frontage of 
8.75m and a depth of 10.4m providing a footprint of 180m

2
.  The eaves height would be 

approximately 5m with a ridge height of 7m. It is, therefore, assumed these dwellings are 
likely to be two-storey. The dormer bungalow would have a similar footprint but eaves 
height would be 2.75m with a ridge height of 6.5m. 

 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
10. Representations have been received from the occupiers of six addresses in objection to the 

proposed development. These raise the following issues: 

 Impact of increased traffic generation onto Bolton Road; 

 Inadequate access; 

 Harm to conservation area; 

 Would lead to further development of undeveloped land in the area; 

 Access point to the site has been maintained by the owners of 8 Miller Avenue for 35 
years and cannot be used to access the site; 

 Loss of light and privacy to neighbouring properties; 

 Impact on character of the area. Specifically development of two-storey detached 
properties next to bungalows is inappropriate; 

 Miller Avenue is only 4m wide and is inadequate to serve the proposal; 

 The dwellings would be out of context and dwarf the existing bungalows; 

 Impact on nature reserve and wildlife; 

 There is sufficient housing stock in the area; 

 Insufficient information; 

 Who would be liable for problems with ground conditions?; 

 What benefit is there for the village?; 

 Would result in urban sprawl; 

 Impact on highway from construction traffic. 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
11. Council’s Conservation Officer: Has raised no objections – see assessment below. 

 
12. Lancashire Highway Services: Have commented that the highway response to the 

previously refused application, 17/00225/OUT, is still valid and should hold for the current 
proposal. This stated no objection subject to conditions relating to the access from Miller 
Avenue. 

 
13. United Utilities: No comments received. 

 
14. Withnell Parish Council: No comments received. 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Principle of development  
15. The application site forms part of land designated by Local Plan policy V2 as within the 

Settlement Area of Abbey Village. Within these areas there is a presumption in favour of 
appropriate sustainable development, subject to material planning considerations and 
compliance with other Development Plan policies. 
 

16. Abbey Village is not specified as an area for growth within Core Strategy policy 1 and falls 
to be considered as an ‘other place’. Criterion (f) of Core Strategy policy 1 reads as follows: 

Agenda Page 42 Agenda Item 3b



“In other places – smaller villages, substantially built up frontages and Major Developed 
Sites – development will typically be small scale and limited to appropriate infilling, 
conversion of buildings and proposals to meet local need, unless there are exceptional 
reasons for larger scale redevelopment schemes.” 
 

17. One of the core principles of the Framework is that development should be focussed in 
locations that are sustainable. It is considered that the site is located in a sustainable 
location with easy access to public transport, local amenities such as a post office and a 
school nearby and the means to access other amenities easily. The Framework also states 
that development in sustainable locations should be approved without delay. This 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is reflected in policy V2 of the Local Plan. 
 

18. It is considered that Abbey Village can be classified as a ‘smaller village’. It is also 
considered that the proposed development of three dwellings is small scale. Three 
dwellings would be an appropriate amount of development, within the settlement boundary 
of a village of this size. A large proportion of dwellings in Abbey Village are terraced, two-
storey properties on either side of Bolton Road, originally built to house workers within the 
Mill. These are typically small with 2 bedrooms. The delivery of three detached dwellings 
with 4 bedrooms would have the benefit of providing much needed family housing to Abbey 
Village, which may support a small number of families to remain within the village rather 
than having to seek appropriate housing elsewhere. 
 

19. Therefore, it is considered that the ‘principle’ of the proposed dwellings is acceptable in 
compliance with Local Plan Policy V2 and Core Strategy Policy 1 and the Framework. 

 
Impact on designated heritage asset 
20. Local Plan policy BNE8 seeks to protect and enhance the designated Heritage Assets. The 

application site is located within the Abbey Village Conservation Area. The key 
characteristics of the conservation area are: 
 

 Linear development either side of a focal point, Abbey Mill; 
 The dominant building materials are elevations faced with local sandstone and 

grey slate roofs; 
 Dominance of small, two-storey terraced houses. The smallest ones are the oldest 

(1840) and are nearest to the mill. Slightly larger ones are younger (1875) and 
situated on the edge of the village; and 

 Modern development on the northwestern fringe. 
 
21. The application site is adjacent to an area of the Abbey Village Conservation Area that 

comprises entirely of modern, late 20th Century houses that have no particular historic, 
architectural or cultural significance and it is not located adjacent to any buildings that 
currently make a positive contribution to the Conservation Area. 

 
22. The application site itself is not noted within the Abbey Village Conservation Area Appraisal 

and Management Proposals, but it does, to some extent, help to preserve the appearance 
of the conservation area. It is considered that a carefully designed residential development, 
of an appropriate scale, using appropriate materials, could be provided at the application 
site, which would continue to preserve the appearance and character of the conservation 
area.  

 
23. The only listed building in the area, Abbey Mill, is located approximately 140 metres south 

east from the application site. Given the character of the immediate area to the proposed 
development site and the separation distance to the only listed building in the area it is 
considered that the proposed development would have no material impact on either the 
appearance of the listed building or the conservation area, or the significance of these 
designated heritage assets. 

 
24. As such it is considered that an application in outline only can be determined in this 

instance, given the peripheral position within a less significant part of the conservation area. 
It is considered that the proposed development would have no material impact on either the 

Agenda Page 43 Agenda Item 3b



appearance of the conservation area or any listed buildings, or the significance of these 
designated heritage assets and is therefore considered to be in conformity with S.72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. It is therefore also 
considered to sustain the significance of this designated heritage asset and to thus be in 
conformity with S.66 and S.72 of the P(LBCA) Act 1990, policy 16 of the Core Strategy and 
policy BNE8 of the Adopted Chorley Local Plan 2012 - 2026. 
 

Impact on character and appearance of locality 
25. The application seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved. Therefore, no 

details of how the proposed dwellings would look, their scale or where they would be sited 
has been provided. From the information submitted with the application it is evident that the 
applicant’s intention is to develop three detached properties consisting of two detached 
houses and a dormer bungalow. These are likely to accommodate at least 4 bedrooms 
each.  
 

26. The prevailing dwelling types within the vicinity of the application site are detached 
bungalows and dormer-bungalows. However, elsewhere in Abbey Village other dwellings 
types exist, including detached two-storey properties. 

 
27. It is considered that three detached properties in this location can assimilate with the built 

form on the northern side of Miller Avenue, with the proposed dormer bungalow providing a 
progression in scale from the existing bungalows of Miller Avenue to the two storey 
dwellings that are proposed. Three dwellings in this position could act as a logical extension 
to those existing dwellings, continuing the existing line of built form westwards. 

 
28. Should this application be approved it is considered that the siting of the proposed 

dwellings would require careful consideration as part of a subsequent reserved matters 
application. The siting and continuation of the highway should reflect the general alignment 
and pattern of the dwelling sited along Miller Avenue.   

 
29. Therefore, whilst no details have been provided in respect to appearance, layout, scale and 

landscaping it is considered that three dwellings could be accommodated at the application 
site without causing harm to the character and appearance of the locality. The development 
therefore complies with Local Plan Policy BNE1.  

 
Neighbour amenity 
30. Policy BNE1 of the Local Plan states that new development must not cause harm to any 

neighbouring property by virtue of overlooking, overshadowing, or by creating an 
overbearing impact.  
 

31. It is considered that there is sufficient scope within the site to design a layout that would 
comply with the Council's interface standards. Matters of layout have not been applied for 
and the final position of the dwellings may change from that which is indicatively shown. 

 
32. Having regard to the position and location of the adjacent properties (particularly 8 Miller 

Avenue), and their windows to habitable rooms it is considered that dwellings could be 
designed on this plot that would accord with the Council's interface standards. A design 
could be accommodated which would not result in any parallel facing windows and without 
compromising the most private areas of gardens. It is, therefore, considered that the 
development could be delivered without adversely affecting upon light and outlook. 

 
Impact on highways/access 
33. Access has not been applied for at this stage, however, it is clear that the development is to 

be accessed from the western extent of Miller Avenue, as a continuation of the existing 
highway. It is noted that Miller Avenue currently terminates at an area of grassed verge, 
which appears to have been planted and tended as a garden. Currently this area appears 
to be maintained by nos. 5 and 8 Miller Avenue and appears to be shared via an informal 
arrangement.  
 

Agenda Page 44 Agenda Item 3b



34. Evidence submitted by neighbouring residents claims that this land has been maintained by 
the occupiers of  5 and 8 Miller Avenue for 6 years; colloquial evidence suggests that the 
occupiers of 8 Miller Avenue have maintained it for some 35 years. Therefore, the owners 
of 5 and 8 Miller Avenue allege that they own (or at least have some control over) this strip 
of land between their properties, thus rendering vehicular access to the application site 
impossible without their permission or agreement. 

 
35. LCC Highways have confirmed that this grassed verge area between the end of the 

surfaced carriageway at Miller Close and the application site forms part of the adopted 
highway and falls within the control and ownership of Lancashire County Council. Access to 
the site would not, therefore, depend upon the consent of any third parties.  

 
36. Given the size of the application site it is considered that 9 car parking spaces could be 

accommodated to serve the three 4-bedroom dwellings, by way of garages and/or driveway 
space. This would ensure that the proposal complies with the Council’s parking standard 
set out at policy ST4 of the Local Plan. 

 
37. It is considered that the surrounding highway network could accommodate the uplift in 

traffic associated with the delivery of three 4-bedroom dwellings. It is also noted that LCC 
(Highways) have no objection to the proposed development subject to the imposition of 
improvements measures, the implementation of which can be secured by condition. 

 
Public Open Space (POS) 
38. The proposed development would generate a requirement for the provision of public open 

space in line with policies HS4a and HS4b of the Chorley Local Plan 2012 – 2026 and the 
Open Space and Playing Pitch Supplementary Planning Document. 
 

39. The Council has agreed to only seek contributions towards provision for children/young 
people on developments of 10 dwellings or less. There is a surplus of provision of this 
typology in Abbey Village, therefore, a contribution towards new provision is not required. 
There are no sites within the accessibility catchment (800m) of this site that need improving 
therefore, a contribution towards improvements is also not required. 

 
Sustainability 
40. Policy 27 of the Core Strategy currently requires dwellinghouses to be built to meet Code 

for Sustainable Homes Level 4 which increases to Level 6 on 1st January 2016. However 
the 2015  Deregulation Bill received Royal Assent on Thursday 26th March 2015 which 
effectively removes Code for Sustainable Homes. The Bill does include transitional 
provisions which include: 
“For the specific issue of energy performance, local planning authorities will continue to be 
able to set and apply policies in their Local Plans which require compliance with energy 
performance standards that exceed the energy requirements of Building Regulations until 
commencement of amendments to the Planning and Energy Act 2008 in the Deregulation 
Bill 2015. This is expected to happen alongside the introduction of zero carbon homes 
policy in late 2016. The government has stated that, from then, the energy performance 
requirements in Building Regulations will be set at a level equivalent to the (outgoing) Code 
for Sustainable Homes Level 4. Until the amendment is commenced, we would expect local 
planning authorities to take this statement of the government’s intention into account in 
applying existing policies and not set conditions with requirements above a Code Level 4 
equivalent.” 
 
“Where there is an existing plan policy which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, 
authorities may continue to apply a requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent 
to the new national technical standard, or in the case of energy a standard consistent with 
the policy set out in the earlier paragraph in this statement, concerning energy 
performance.” 
 

41. As such, there is a requirement for the proposed dwellings to achieve a minimum Dwelling 
Emission Rate of 19% above 2013 Building Regulations in accordance with the above 
provisions. This can be controlled by conditions. 

Agenda Page 45 Agenda Item 3b



Other matters 
42. Impact on nature reserve and wildlife: The site borders the local nature reserve to the west. 

The proposed development would not result in any loss of the nature reserve or impact on 
its status. The relationship would reflect that of the dwellings at 6, 7 and 8 Cherry Grove, 
which also bound the nature reserve. The application itself is pasture land and, therefore, 
has little ecological value in its own right. 
 

43. There is sufficient housing stock in the area: Although the Council has a 5 year housing 
supply, there is an ongoing need to supply housing within the borough, and part of this 
supply is anticipated to be delivered through windfall sites, which this is. In addition, there 
are few opportunities for new housing development in Abbey Village. 

 
44. Insufficient information: The planning application is in outline only with all matters reserved. 

An application for outline planning permission allows for a decision on the general principles 
of how a site can be developed. Outline planning permission is granted subject to 
conditions requiring the subsequent approval of one or more ‘reserved matters’, at which 
stage greater detail would be submitted for the Council’s consideration. Only information 
about the proposed use or uses, and the amount of development proposed for each use is 
necessary to allow consideration of an application for outline planning permission. It is 
considered that in this instance adequate information has been submitted in support of the 
application to determine the general principles of the proposed development on the site in 
question. 

 
45. Who would be liable for problems with ground conditions?: Should any issues with ground 

conditions be identified throughout the course of any development it is the responsibility of 
the developer to ensure the safe development of the site and any other land affected. 

 
46. What benefit is there for the village?: The provision of family sized housing within a village 

of predominantly 2 bedroomed dwellings is considered to be a benefit. 
 

47. Would result in urban sprawl: The site forms part of the settlement area, within which there 
is a presumption in favour of appropriate sustainable development. 

 
48. Impact on the highway from construction traffic: It is recommended that a construction 

method statement is required by a condition prior to the commencement of any 
development of the site in the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenity of 
neighbouring occupiers. 

 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
49. The Chorley CIL Infrastructure Charging Schedule provides a specific amount for 

development. The CIL Charging Schedule was adopted on 16 July 2013 and charging 
commenced on 1 September 2013. The proposed development would be a chargeable 
development and the charge is subject to indexation in accordance with the Council’s 
Charging Schedule. 

 
CONCLUSION 
49. It is considered that the proposal would have no detrimental impact character of the area 

and would accord with the aims of policies within the Framework and Local Plan that seek 
to achieve sustainable development. It is also considered that the proposal would not give 
rise to undue harm to the amenities of neighbouring residents or highway safety. Finally, 
the proposed development would preserve the character and appearance of the Abbey 
Village Conservation Area and is accordingly recommended for approval 

 
RELEVANT POLICIES:  In accordance with s.38 (6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
(2004), the application is to be determined in accordance with the development plan (the Central 
Lancashire Core Strategy, the Adopted Chorley Local Plan 2012-2026 and adopted 
Supplementary Planning Guidance), unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Consideration of the proposal has had regard to guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) and the development plan. The specific policies/ 
guidance considerations are contained within the body of the report. 

Agenda Page 46 Agenda Item 3b



RELEVANT HISTORY OF THE SITE 
 
Ref: 00/00407/OUT Decision: WDN Decision Date: 1 August 2000 
Description: Outline application for 6 dwellings, 
 
Ref: 17/00225/OUT Decision: REFFPP Decision Date: 26 May 2017 
Description: Erection of three detached dwellings accessed from Miller Avenue 
 
Suggested Conditions 
 

No. Condition 

1.  An application for approval of the reserved matters, namely the access, 
appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the site, must be made to the 
Council before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission and 
the development hereby permitted must be begun two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved. 
 
Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by the provisions of Article 3 (1) 
of the Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995 
and Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans below: 
 

Reference Title Received 

Site Location Plan Site Location Plan 13
th
 Sept 2017 

Site Plan Site Plan 13
th
 Sept 2017 

 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

3.  Prior to the construction of the superstructure of any of the dwellings hereby 
permitted or with any reserved matter application, details shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority demonstrating that each 
dwelling will achieve a minimum Dwelling Emission Rate of 19% above 2013 
Building Regulations. The development thereafter shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: Policy 27 of the Adopted Central Lancashire Core Strategy requires new 
dwellings to be built to Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 however following the 
Deregulation Bill 2015 receiving Royal Ascent it is no longer possible to set 
conditions with requirements above a Code Level 4 equivalent. However as Policy 
27 is an adopted Policy it is still possible to secure energy efficiency reduction as 
part of new residential schemes in the interests of minimising the environmental 
impact of the development. 
 

4.  No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until a SAP assessment (Standard 
Assessment Procedure), or other alternative proof of compliance (which has been 
previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority) such as an Energy 
Performance Certificate, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority demonstrating that the dwelling has achieved the required 
Dwelling Emission Rate. 
 
Reason: Policy 27 of the Adopted Central Lancashire Core Strategy requires new 
dwellings to be built to Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 however following the 
Deregulation Bill 2015 receiving Royal Ascent it is no longer possible to set 
conditions with requirements above a Code Level 4 equivalent. However as Policy 
27 is an adopted Policy it is still possible to secure energy efficiency reductions as 
part of new residential schemes in the interests of minimising the environmental 
impact of the development. 

Agenda Page 47 Agenda Item 3b



5.  Prior to the construction of the superstructure of any of the dwellings hereby 
permitted or with any reserved matter application, a surface water drainage 
scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning 
Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public 
sewerage system either directly or indirectly.  

 
The surface water drainage scheme scheme shall include as a minimum:  

 
a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident's management 
company; and 

 
b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the 
sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water drainage 
scheme throughout its lifetime.  

 
The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved scheme. 
 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution. This condition is imposed in light of 
policies within the NPPF and NPPG. 
 

6.  As part of the first application for reserved matters or prior to the commencement of 
the development the following details shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority: 
 
a) Details of the colour, form and texture of all external facing materials to the 
proposed dwelling 
b) Details of the colour, form and texture of all hard ground- surfacing 
materials. 
c) Location, design and materials of all fences, walls and other boundary 
treatments. 
d) The finished floor level of the proposed dwelling and any detached garages 
 
The development thereafter shall be completed in accordance with the approved 
details. Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted all fences and 
walls shown in the approved details to bound its plot shall have been erected in 
conformity with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities and character of the area and to 
provide reasonable standards of privacy to residents. 
 

7.  A scheme for the landscaping of the development and its surroundings shall be 
submitted as part of the reserved matters application.  These details shall include 
all existing trees and hedgerows on the land; detail any to be retained, together 
with measures for their protection in the course of development; indicate the types 
and numbers of trees and shrubs to be planted, their distribution on site, those 
areas to be seeded, paved or hard landscaped; and detail any changes of ground 
level or landform, proposed finished levels, means of enclosure, minor artefacts 
and structures. The scheme should include a landscaping/habitat creation and 
management plan which should aim to contribute to targets specified in the UK and 
Lancashire Biodiversity Action Plans. Landscaping proposals should comprise only 
native plant communities appropriate to the natural area. The content of the plan 

Agenda Page 48 Agenda Item 3b



should include elements to mitigate for loss of trees shrubs and bird nesting 
habitat. 
 
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details within the first planting and seeding seasons following the 
occupation of any buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the 
sooner, and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 
and species. 
 
Reason: To ensure that a satisfactory landscaping scheme for the development is 
carried out to mitigate the impact of the development and secure a high quality 
design. 
 

8.  Either as part of the first reserved matters application or prior to the 
commencement of the development a Construction Method Statement shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The 
approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The 
Statement shall provide for: 
i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
ii. hours of operation (including delivers) during construction 
iii. loading and unloading of plant and materials  
iv. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  
v. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate  
vi. wheel washing facilities  
vii. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction  
viii. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works 
 
Reason: in the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of the 
nearby residents. 
 

9.  Prior to the construction/provision of any services, a strategy to facilitate super-fast 
broadband for future occupants of the site shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy shall seek to ensure that upon 
occupation of a dwelling, either a landline or ducting to facilitate the provision of a 
super-fast broadband service to that dwelling from a site-wide network, is in place 
and provided as part of the initial highway works within the site boundary only.  
 
Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development. 
 

 
 
 

Agenda Page 49 Agenda Item 3b



This page is intentionally left blank



 

A
genda P

age 51
A

genda Item
 3b



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPLICATION REPORT – 17/00924/FUL 

 
Validation Date: 19 September 2017 
 
Ward: Brindle And Hoghton 
 
Type of Application: Full Planning 
 
 
Proposal: Erection of extension to north facing side elevation of livestock building. 
 
Location: Crossfields Bury Lane Withnell Chorley PR6 8BH  
 
Case Officer: Chris Smith 
 
 
Applicant: Mr J Savage 
 
Agent: Mrs Mary Miller 
 
 
Consultation expiry: 13 October 2017 
 
Decision due by: 14 November 2017 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. It is recommended that this application is approved subject to conditions. 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
2. The application site is located in the Green Belt on agricultural land within the rural Parish of 

Withnell. The site bounds with open and rural land on all sides. The original group of 
buildings associated with this land, Cross Fields, have been subdivided into two domestic 
dwellings many years ago (pre 1974) and these are now divorced from the majority of the 
original agricultural holding. 

 
3. The site is served by the original access track that leads from Bury Lane (A674) located 

approximately 400m to the north east and this also provides access to the two 
aforementioned domestic dwellings. Whilst having the typical appearance of a farm track 
this route can be used by private cars. 

 
4. The site occupies an elevated position set on rising topography that is located at between 

three and four metres higher than the land on which the adjacent dwellings sit, albeit not 
less than 60 metres distant from them. A number of trees and shrubs effectively screen the 
site from these dwellings. 

 
5. Consent was previously granted for three agricultural buildings within the site in 2009, 2013 

and 2016 and these buildings are in situ and have the appearance of typical modern 
agricultural structures that are very similar to the proposed extension. 

 
6. A public footpath crosses the site (footpath no. 26), approximately 20 metres to the south 

west of the location for the proposed building extension. 
 
 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
7. The application seeks planning permission for an extension to an existing livestock building. 
 

Agenda Page 53 Agenda Item 3c



8. The extension would project approximately 6m from the north facing side elevation of the 
existing livestock building, for the full length of the building (approximately 15.2m). The 
proposed extension would be a steel framed, mono-pitched structure with an eaves height of 
approximately 3m and a maximum height of approximately 3.6m. 

 
9. It would cover an existing feeding area in order to prevent rainwater from mixing with silage 

and feed. The roof would comprise cement fibre sheets and the walls would be concrete 
block to approximately 2m in height with green coated box profile steel sheets above. 

 
THE APPLICANT’S CASE 
 
10. The proposed extension would cover an existing animal feeding area currently located to the 

north of the existing livestock building. The purpose of this would be to enable the diversion 
of rainwater to a clean water drain in order to prevent rainwater mixing with silage and feed. 

 
11. The application site contains an existing farm enterprise and the supporting design and 

access statement states that the applicant currently farms 15 fattening cattle and it is the 
intention of the applicant to purchase more this autumn. It is also claimed that the applicant 
manages approximately 20 acres of grassland and that the business has a flock of 20 
breeding ewes which would increase to 40 this autumn. In addition, store lambs are 
purchased annually for finishing. 

 
12. The livestock building to be extended provides accommodation for cattle and space for the 

storage of hay and straw. In addition, lambs are housed within the building. The extension 
would enable the cattle rearing element of the business to expand without risk of causing 
pollution. 

 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
13. One representation of objection from the occupier of no. 14 Chapel Street who objected to 

the proposed development and cited the following reasons as to why the development would 
not be acceptable: 

 

 Site already contains a large and oversized barn 

 This barn was built on a public footpath 

 It is important to protect public rights of way 

 Farm currently has few livestock so building might not be needed 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
14. Withnell Parish Council – have not commented.  
 
15. CIL Officers - this development is currently exempt from CIL under Reg.42. 

 
16. Lancashire Highway Services – have not commented. 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Principle of the development in the Green Belt 
 
17. The application site is a farm holding located in the Green Belt. The National Planning Policy 

Framework (The Framework) states that there is a general presumption against 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and The Framework advises that when 
considering any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure that 
substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. 
 

18. National guidance on Green Belt is contained in Chapter 9 of the Framework which states: 
 

79. The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental 
aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently 

Agenda Page 54 Agenda Item 3c



open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence. 

 
80. Green Belt serves five purposes: 

 

 to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 

 to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 

 to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 

 to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 

 to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 
urban land.   

 
19. The Framework sets out a number of exceptions to inappropriate development in the Green 

Belt. Paragraph 89 of the Framework states that one exception includes buildings for 
agriculture and forestry. In order for the proposed development to be considered as an 
exception to inappropriate development in the Green Belt then it must be established that 
the proposed buildings are reasonably necessary for the purposes of agriculture. 

 
Reasonably necessary for the purposes of agriculture: 
 
20. The proposed agricultural building extension would serve an agricultural holding covering 

approximately 8 hectares and comprising 15 fattening cattle, a flock of 20 breeding ewes 
and lambs which are purchased annually. 

 
21. The planning history of the site demonstrates that the site is an established agricultural 

farming enterprise and several previous planning permissions have been granted for the 
erection of agricultural buildings. These include planning references 15/01253/FUL for the 
erection of an agricultural building to house cattle and sheep and 11/00931/AGR, which was 
a prior notification for the erection of an agricultural store. 

 
22. These permissions demonstrate that the farm is well established as an agricultural 

enterprise. The current proposal involves an extension to an existing building rather than the 
erection of a new building and the extension would cover an existing outdoor feeding area in 
order to prevent pollution arising from the mixing of rainwater with silage and feed. 

 
23. The extension would also allow the applicant to accommodate more cattle, whilst meeting 

animal welfare and farm assurance standards. 
 

24. On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposed building would be reasonably 
necessary for the purposes of agriculture. 

 
Design, siting, appearance and scale of the proposed extension 
 
25. The proposed extension of the agricultural building would project onto an existing grassed 

area to the north of the building and this area is screened from adjoining land by an 
approximately 3m high grass bank. It is considered that the siting of the extension in this 
location would be the most appropriate available option given the configuration of the 
existing yard and buildings to the south. 

 
26. The proposed extension would project by approximately 6m from the north facing side 

elevation of the existing building and would have a length of approximately 15m. It would 
have a mono-pitched roof with a maximum height of approximately 3.6m. This would enable 
the extension to fit in with the form of the existing building and the proposed materials would 
also be appropriate resulting in an extension that would be a subservient and 
sympathetically designed addition to the original building. 

 
27. The proposed extension would not be prominently visible from beyond the site and as a 

result it would not harm the appearance of the site or character of the area. The nearest 
neighbouring property at ‘Crossfield’s Cottage’ would be approximately 95m to the north 
west of the proposed extension. As such it is considered that the proposed development 

Agenda Page 55 Agenda Item 3c



would be too far distant from the nearest neighbouring property to have any material impact 
upon its setting. 

 
Other matters 
 
28. One representation of objection to the proposed development was made. The objector raised 

concerns about the public right of way, which passes through the site. The proposed 
extension would not be built on the public right of way, therefore it would be unaffected by 
the proposed development. 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
29. The proposed extension is considered to be reasonably necessary for the purposes of 

agriculture and therefore represents an exception to inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt. The siting and design of the extension is considered to be acceptable. 

 
30. The proposed development is, therefore, considered to be acceptable and as such is 

recommended for approval. 
 
RELEVANT POLICIES:  In accordance with s.38 (6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
(2004), the application is to be determined in accordance with the development plan (the Central 
Lancashire Core Strategy, the Adopted Chorley Local Plan 2012-2026 and adopted 
Supplementary Planning Guidance), unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Consideration of the proposal has had regard to guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) and the development plan. The specific policies/ 
guidance considerations are contained within the body of the report. 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY OF THE SITE 
 
Ref: 11/00931/AGR Decision: PAAGR Decision Date: 24 November 2011 
Description: Application for agricultural prior notification for the erection of an agricultural 
store 
 
Ref: 15/01253/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 1 March 2016 
Description: Erection of an agricultural building to house cattle and sheep 
 
Ref: 80/00320/OUT Decision: REFOPP Decision Date: 19 May 1980 
Description: Bungalow (Outline) 
 
Ref: 77/00331/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 24 May 1977 
Description: Porch 
 
Suggested Conditions 
 
1. The proposed development must be begun not later than three years from the date of this 
permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 
 
2. The external facing materials, detailed on the approved plans, shall be used and no others 
substituted unless alternatives are first submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, when the development shall then be carried out in accordance with the alternatives 
approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the materials used are visually appropriate to the locality. 
 
3. The building hereby permitted shall be used for agricultural purposes only (as defined in 
Section 336(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990); in conjunction with the remainder 
of the holding as identified in the supporting information submitted with the application. It shall 

Agenda Page 56 Agenda Item 3c



be removed and the site reinstated to its original condition by a scheme to be agreed with the 
Local Planning Authority if at any time it ceases to be used for this purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the building is used solely for agricultural purposes connected with the 
working of the holding. 
 
 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
below: 
 

Title Plan Ref Received On 

Location Plan N/A 18 September 2017 

Proposed Plans N/A 18 September 2017 

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
 

Agenda Page 57 Agenda Item 3c



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Page 59 Agenda Item 3c



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3d 
 
 

APPLICATION REPORT – 17/00962/FULMAJ 

 
Validation Date: 28 September 2017 
 
Ward: Chorley South East 
 
Type of Application: Major Full Planning 
 
 
Proposal: Erection of 10, one bedroom apartments 
 
Location: Land Adjacent 13 And 15 Halliwell Street Chorley   
 
Case Officer: Mr Ian Heywood 
 
 
 
Applicant: Mr Ben Rose 
 
Agent: Mr Chris Weetman 
 
 
Consultation expiry: 27 October 2017 
 
Decision due by: 28 December 2017 
 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. It is recommended that this application is approved, subject to conditions and a legal 

agreement. 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
2. The application site is located partially within Chorley Town centre. It comprises a piece of 

open land, historically occupied by small terraced properties until these were demolished 
many years ago. Since then the site has remained vacant, albeit fenced off and kept in a 
reasonably tidy condition. This part of Halliwell Street is characterised by terraced housing 
and purpose built blocks of apartments just off the secondary shopping area of Market 
Street. It is just to the south of the St George’s Street Conservation Area.  

 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
3. The proposed development involves the erection of a three-storey block of ten apartments. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
4. Letters of objection have been received from 3no.addresses. These relate to a lack of 

parking and the negative impact on amenity resulting from perceived increased noise and 
congestion in the area. 

 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
5. United Utilities – no objections, subject to conditions; 
 

Agenda Page 61 Agenda Item 3d



6. CIL Officers – The development would be liable for CIL but chargeable at £0.00/square 
metre as it is for apartments. 

 
7. Lancashire County Council Education – An education contribution is not required. 
 
8. Lancashire Archaeology Advisory Service – the site has the potential for below-ground 

remains to be encountered by disturbance in this area. LAAS would recommend an 
archaeological watching brief be maintained during groundworks and such works be 
secured by a suitably worded condition. 

 
9. Lancashire Highway Services – No objections 
 
10. Waste & Contaminated Land – No comments received. 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Principle of the development 
11. The National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) states that housing applications 

should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. This means that development proposals that accord with the development 
plan should be approved without delay. 
 

12. The application site is located partially within the Town Centre within the core settlement 
area. Cores Strategy Policy 1 is concerned with locating growth and identifies Chorley 
Town Centre as a Key Service Centre where growth and investment should be 
concentrated. 

 
13. The site is not allocated for any specific use within the Chorley local Plan 2012 – 2026 and 

the Local Plan states that within the settlement areas excluded from the Green Belt, and 
identified on the Policies Map, there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

 
Impact on the conservation area 
14. The site is outside, but close to the southern boundary of the St George’s Street 

Conservation Area. It is considered that the proposed development is acceptable as it 
would preserve the appearance of the St George’s Street Conservation Area and would 
therefore sustain the significance of this designated heritage asset. 
 

Design and impact on the character of the area 
15. The proposal is for the erection of a three storey building, with accommodation within the 

roof space that would contain ten apartments. It is of traditional style as befits this area that 
is close to a conservation area, but with some contemporary detailing. 
 

16. Within the immediate area there is an eclectic mix of buildings styles and materials. The 
proposed building is of a slightly lower height than either the buildings to the west or east of 
the site and similar to those both opposite and behind it. The articulation of the elevation 
details is such that this reduces the apparent massing of the building such that it appears to 
be broadly similar to surrounding buildings. 

 
17. A mixture of materials, as found in the immediate area, is proposed. Elevations are mostly 

brick with some smaller areas of render, with suitable and appropriate traditional detailing 
and windows of typical proportions and the appearance of traditional sashes. 

 
18. The design approach proposed is considered to enhance the street scene. 
 
Impact on neighbour amenity 
19. The proposed building has been designed to fit within the close-grained character of the 

area and replicates the separation distance between buildings as found therein. Any 
windows on the end elevations are either to non-habitable rooms, to rooms where obscure 
gazing is proposed, such as in bathrooms or lavatories, or face onto either blank elevations 

Agenda Page 62 Agenda Item 3d



or elevations where the only window is also to a non-habitable room within the adjacent 
properties. 
 

20. At the rear there are no windows that face the rear of the properties on the southern side of 
St George’s Street. Any windows have been placed so as to be at right angles to the rear 
elevation. Any window within the rear elevation of the proposed building are to common or 
service areas, such as staircases. The separation distance between the proposed building 
and apartments on the southern side of St George’s Street is approximately 7m at the 
nearest point, which would impact on both outlook and direct light. It is noted, however, that 
this reflects the historic relationship of properties in the area. In addition to this it must be 
anticipated that a derelict site so close to the town centre must be developed at some stage 
in the interests of sustainable development, and that any development would reflect the 
scale and positioning of other buildings in the vicinity, which this does.    

 
21. A residential use for this site is considered to be compatible with the existing properties in 

the immediate area in this highly sustainable location. 
 

Impact on highways/access 
22. The transport issues, including the description of existing site conditions and details of the 

development proposal have been set out in the submitted Transport and Planning 
Statements.  
 

23. The site is considered to be in a highly sustainable location, close to both Chorley’s bus and 
railway stations and within very close proximity to Chorley Town Centre’s facilities. It is 
close to a number of bus routes providing access to retail, schools, health centres, 
hospitals, police stations etc. The street has a mixture of no waiting, restricted and resident 
parking only zones. 

 
24. The applicant’s proposed on-site cycle storage is noted. 

 
25. The proposed layout of the rear of the property would facilitate bin storage provisions. 

Disabled access is provided for with two ramped entrances to the front elevation. 
 

26. Lancashire County Council Highways officer has accepted the findings of the submitted 
Transport Statement and whilst noting that parking for residents in the area is an ongoing 
issue the combination of a highly sustainable location and the nature of the proposed 
accommodation – one-bedroomed apartments – will not cause a significant impact for 
highways safety or capacity in the immediate vicinity of the site. 

 
Public open space 
27. Policies HS4A and HS4B refer to the need for developments to make a financial 

contribution towards the provision of and/or improvement of various types of public open 
space where it is shown that a deficit of such provision is demonstrated. 
 

28. In this case the Council’s Planning Policy team has identified the following areas where this 
is the case and have indicated that the following contribution is required and which should 
be sought via a S.106 Agreement:  

 
a. Equipped play areas – improvement of facilities at Tatton Recreation Ground, 

£1,340.00 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
29. There would be no unacceptable detrimental impact on the appearance or character of the 

area or the amenity of neighbouring properties as a result of the proposed development. In 
addition the development is located in a sustainable location and would not have an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety. On this basis it is recommended that planning 
permission should be granted, subject to conditions and a S.106 Agreement. 

 
 

Agenda Page 63 Agenda Item 3d



RELEVANT POLICIES:  In accordance with s.38 (6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
(2004), the application is to be determined in accordance with the development plan (the Central 
Lancashire Core Strategy, the Adopted Chorley Local Plan 2012-2026 and adopted 
Supplementary Planning Guidance), unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Consideration of the proposal has had regard to guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) and the development plan. The specific policies/ 
guidance considerations are contained within the body of the report. 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY OF THE SITE 
 
Ref: 95/00766/COU Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 10 January 1996 
Description: Change of use of land to car park, 
 
Ref: 08/00493/FUL Decision: WDLPA Decision Date: 28 August 2008 
Description: Erection of 3.5 storey building containing 5 no. one bedroom flats including 1 no. 
apartment in roof space and two offices at ground floor level, 
 
Ref: 09/00201/FUL Decision: WDN Decision Date: 14 August 2012 
Description: Erection of two offices and five 1 Bedroom flats 
 
Ref: 5/1/00816 Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 28 February 1956 
Description: Changeo f use from dwellinghouse to house and shop 
 
Ref: 90/00871/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 27 November 1990 
Description: Single-storey development of five shop units (substitution of details previously 
approved or three-storey development ref 9/89/443) 
 
Ref: 89/00443/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 5 September 1989 
Description: Redevelopment to form shop with offices above 
 
Suggested Conditions 
 
1. The proposed development must be begun not later than three years from the date of this 
permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
below: 
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 

Title Plan Ref Received On 

Proposed Site Layout Plan SK32/3A 28 September 2017 

Site Location Plan SK/32/1 28 September 2017 

Proposed Plans and Elevations SK/0/1B 28 September 2017 

 
 
3. Prior to their installation samples of all external facing and roofing materials (notwithstanding 
any details shown on previously submitted plan(s) and specification) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All works shall be undertaken strictly in 
accordance with the details as approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the materials used are visually appropriate to the locality. 
 
4. Prior to their installation details of the proposed fenestration (windows, doors and other 
joinery), to include full details at a scale of not less than 1:10 shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. All works shall then be undertaken strictly in accordance 
with the details as approved. 
 

Agenda Page 64 Agenda Item 3d



Reason: To secure the design details of the development. 
 

5. No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological work, including a 
Written Scheme of Investigation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
The archaeological work should include a formal watching brief followed by such subsequent 
work as required to investigate and record any remains encountered. This work should be 
carried out by an appropriately qualified and experienced professional archaeological  
 
Reason: The site is situated within an area of known archaeological interest and, as such, the 
site should be appropriately excavated and the remains recorded. Archaeological investigation 
must, by necessity be undertaken prior to the commencement of development and the watching 
brief must take place during ground investigation works. 
 
6. Surface water must drain separate from the foul and no surface water will be permitted to 
discharge to the foul sewerage system. 
 
Reason: To secure proper drainage. 
 
7. Prior to the commencement of construction, a surface water drainage scheme, based on the 
hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an 
assessment of the site conditions shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
  
The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement 
national standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no 
surface water shall discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or indirectly.  
  
The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the risk 
of flooding and pollution.  This condition is imposed in light of policies within the NPPF and 
NPPG.  

 
8. Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage management and maintenance 
plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to the local planning authority and 
agreed in writing.  The sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan shall include 
as a minimum:  
 
a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory undertaker, or, 
management and maintenance by a resident's management company; and 
b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the 
sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme 
throughout its lifetime.  
 
The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in accordance 
with the approved plan. 
 
Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the sustainable drainage 
system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution during the lifetime of the 
development. 
 

Agenda Page 65 Agenda Item 3d



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Page 67 Agenda Item 3d



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Page 69 Agenda Item 3e



This page is intentionally left blank



APPLICATION REPORT – 17/00961/FULMAJ 

 
Validation Date: 28 September 2017 
 
Ward: Clayton-le-Woods West And Cuerden 
 
Type of Application: Major Full Planning 
 
 
Proposal: Construction of polytunnel building measuring 96m by 85.4m and 5000 cubic 

metre (5 m litres) irrigation pond. 
 
Location: Armlee Nurseries Apline View Wigan Road Clayton-Le-Woods Leyland PR25 

5SB  
 
Case Officer: Mr Ian Heywood 
 
 
 
Applicant: Mr Lee Ainscough 
 
Agent: Mr Steven Hartley 
 
 
Consultation expiry: 30 November 2017 
 
Decision due by: 28 December 2017 
 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
1. Permit Full Planning Permission 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
2. This is an existing commercial plant (horticultural) nursery site that is a wholesale supplier to 

national supermarket chains. It is located immediately adjacent to the M6 motorway to the 
west and the A49, Wigan Road, to the east and is within the Green Belt. A high Pressure gas 
pipeline runs parallel to the M6 at the western extremity of the site and a small strip of the site 
adjacent to its northern boundary falls within an area of minerals safeguarded land. 

 
3. New housing development is located to the east of the site, an allocated housing site 

(HS1.31) within the settlement of Clayton-le-Woods. The nearest property within this area is 
approximately 115 metres to the east of the site. Lydiate Farm complex is located 
approximately 50 metres to the north of the northern site boundary. A small industrial 
complex is located between 30 and 50 metres to the south of the southern site boundary. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
4. This application seeks planning permission to erect a series of polytunnels connected 

together to comprise a single block measuring 96metres by 85.4metres and the excavation of 
an irrigation pond of approximately 5,000 cubic metres capacity (5m litres). The position of 
the polytunnels and the irrigation pond has been designed, following discussions, to avoid 
both the gas pipeline and the area of minerals safeguarded land. 

 
REPRESENTATIONS 
5. No comments have been received. 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
6. Clayton le Woods Parish Council: Comment sited on Green Belt land, ponds, hedges and 

trees affected. 
 

Agenda Page 71 Agenda Item 3g



7. Waste & Contaminated Land: No comment to make. 
 

8. National Grid UK Transmission: Following receipt of initial comments the position of the 
irrigation pond has been amended to allow the requisite easement between the development 
and the gas pipeline to allow for any maintenance thereof. 

 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Principle of development 
9. The Framework (the National Planning Policy Framework) and the Central Lancashire Core 

Strategy, are supportive of proposals that contribute to sustainable development. The 
Framework states that there is a general presumption against inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt. 

 
10. The Framework states that ‘A local planning authority should regard the construction of new 

buildings as inappropriate in Green Belt. Exceptions to this are: 
 

 Buildings for agriculture and forestry; 
 
11. The proposed development in this case therefore falls to be considered not inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt.  
 
12. The Core Strategy further states that the Council will work proactively with applicants to 

support development that, amongst other things, improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions of the area. 

 
13. This development is considered to improve the economic condition of the area by enhancing 

employment opportunities therein. 
 
Neighbour amenity 

14. Policy BNE1 of the adopted Chorley Local Plan states, Planning Permission will be 
granted for new development, including extensions, conversions and free standing 
structures, provided that, where relevant to the development: 

a. The proposal does not have a significantly detrimental impact on the surrounding 
area by virtue of its density, siting, layout, building to plot ratio, height, scale and 
massing, design, orientation and use of materials; 

b. The development would not cause harm to any neighbouring property by virtue of 
overlooking, overshadowing, or overbearing; 

c. The layout, design and landscaping of all elements of the proposal, including any 
internal roads, car parking, footpaths and open spaces, are of high quality and 
respect the character of the site and local area; 

d. The residual cumulative highways impact of the development is not severe and it 
would not prejudice highways safety, pedestrian safety, the free flow of traffic, and 
would not reduce the number of on-site parking spaces to below the standards stated 
in Site Allocations Policy – Parking Standards, unless there are other material 
considerations which justify the reduction; 

e. The proposal would not adversely affect the character or setting of a listed building 
and/or the character of a conservation area and/or heritage asset including locally 
important areas; 

f. The proposal would not have a detrimental impact on important natural habitats and 
landscape features such as historic landscapes, mature trees, hedgerows, ponds and 
watercourses. In some circumstances where on balance it is considered acceptable 
to remove one or more of these features the mitigation measures to replace the 
feature/s will be required either on or off-site; 

g. The proposal would not cause an unacceptable degree of noise disturbance to 
surrounding land uses; 

h. The proposal includes measures to help prevent crime and promote community 

Agenda Page 72 Agenda Item 3g



safety. 

 
15. In this case the site is an already established horticultural nursery. It is situated immediately 

adjacent to the M6 Motorway some considerable distance from any neighbouring residential 
property. It is considered to be appropriate to the locality and to have no material impact 
upon the amenity of any neighbouring property, highways safety or the ecology of the area. 
There are no listed buildings, conservation areas or other heritage assets within the area. 
  

16. The proposed development is therefore considered to be in conformity with the Local Plan. 
 
CONCLUSION 
17. The proposed development falls to be appropriate development in the Green Belt that 

accords with the Core Strategy and the Local Plan in terms of supporting the rural economy, 
the appearance of the area and any impacts on neighbour amenity, highways or ecology are 
concerned. The application is therefore recommended for approval. 

 
RELEVANT POLICIES:  In accordance with s.38 (6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

(2004), the application is to be determined in accordance with the development plan (the 
Central Lancashire Core Strategy, the Adopted Chorley Local Plan 2012-2026 and adopted 
Supplementary Planning Guidance), unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Consideration of the proposal has had regard to guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) and the development plan. The specific policies/ 
guidance considerations are contained within the body of the report. 

 
RELEVANT HISTORY OF THE SITE 
Ref: 07/01220/FUL Decision: PERFPP Decision Date: 19 December 2007 
Description: Construction of glass house, storage reservoir, warehouse building (inc related 

offices and staff facilities) new access and car parking for wholesale horticulture. 
 
 
Suggested Conditions 
 
 
1. The proposed development must be begun not later than three years from the date of this 

permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

below: 
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 

Title Plan Ref Received On 

Location Plan PL-CS8-QU6179-
003 

28 September 2017 

Proposed Site Plan PL-CS8-QU6179-
005(B) 

13 November 2017 

Proposed Plans and Elevations PL-CS8-QU6179-
0001 (A) 

28 September 2017 

Proposed Plans and Elevations PL-CS8-QU6179-
0002 (0) 

28 September 2017 

 
 

Agenda Page 73 Agenda Item 3g



This page is intentionally left blank



A
genda P

age 75
A

genda Item
 3g



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPLICATION REPORT – 17/00999/FULMAJ 

 
Validation Date: 12 October 2017 
 
Ward: Astley And Buckshaw 
 
Type of Application: Major Full Planning 
 
 
Proposal: Erection of three storey office building and demolition of existing single storey 
office building. 
 
Location: Chorley Technology And Business Centre East Terrace Euxton   
 
Case Officer: Mr Iain Crossland 
 
 
 
Applicant: Mr Julian Hindle 
 
Agent: Mr Graham Margerison 
 
 
Consultation expiry: 6 November 2017 
 
Decision due by: 11 January 2018 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. It is recommended that the application is approved subject to conditions.  
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
2. The application site is located within the settlement area of Euxton, on part of the Chorley 

Business & Technology Park, which is an existing and well established business park 
prominently sited at the junction of Euxton Lane and Central Avenue, and accessed from 
Euxton Lane via East Terrace.  

 
3. The position of the proposed office is on part of the existing car park adjacent to an existing 

office building and the boundary of the site with the railway line. The character of the 
immediate area is commercial as part of an established business park. There are modern 
residential estates beyond the site. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
4. The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a three storey office building 

and demolition of an existing single storey office building. The car park would be 
reconfigured to reflect the loss of the existing office building and erection of the new building 
in a different position.  

 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
5. None received. 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
6. Euxton Parish Council: Objects to this proposal for two reasons. Firstly it is noted that on 

completion there would be an increase in office space of 880 sq. m. and an increase of 10 
car park spaces.  There does not appear to be any account to suggest whether or not this 

Agenda Page 77 Agenda Item 3h



increase is sufficient to accommodate the parking requirement generated by the increased 
employment spaces. 
 

7. More importantly still, there is no explanation of what will happen to the 200 or thereabouts 
existing parking spaces that will be lost whilst the new building is under construction and 
before the Solutions House is demolished. The Council cannot see where the displaced 
vehicles could be accommodated except by wholesale parking on the adjacent Milestone 
Meadow housing estate. 
 

8. Waste & Contaminated Land: No objections. 
 
9. Lancashire Highway Services: Comments that the proposed scale of development 

requires 29 car parking spaces to be provided. The applicant is, however, only providing 10 
spaces which is substantially below the required level. 

 
10. Although the applicant's parking provision is less than required, given the available overspill 

parking provision, LCC Highways have not raised an objection to the proposal. 
 
11. United Utilities: No objection subject to conditions. 
 
12. Network Rail: No objection raised. 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
13. The National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) is strongly in support of 

proposals that sustain and enhance economic growth. It states in paragraph 19 that 
significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth through the 
planning system. 
 

14. This is complemented by Central Lancashire Core Strategy policy 10, which seeks to protect 
existing employment premises and sites. 

 
15. It is noted that Euxton is identified as an Urban Local Service Centre suitable for some 

growth and investment in policy 1(d) of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy, in order to 
help meet employment needs. 
 

16. The Chorley Local Plan 2012-2026 policy EP3 provides guidance for the development of 
new business development. This policy sets out a number of criteria to be satisfied by such 
proposals. The most relevant criteria to this proposal are set out and assessed as follows: 
 

17. a) they are of a scale and character that is commensurate with the size of the settlement;  
The development is of a scale that is commensurate with the area of the application site and 
existing buildings on the industrial estate. The design and character would be in keeping 
with the character of the industrial estate. Indeed there are already two office buildings of the 
same design on the business park. 

 
18. b) the site is planned and laid out on a comprehensive basis; 

The development would form part of a wider site that is already laid out on a comprehensive 
basis. 
 

19. c) the site will not prejudice future, or current economic activities within nearby areas; 

There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed development would prejudice future, or 
current economic activities within nearby areas; 
 

20. d) the proposal will not cause unacceptable harm e.g. noise, smells to surrounding uses; 
The proposed development would not result in any greater impact on noise or disturbance 
than is currently experienced as a result of the businesses located on the business park;  
 

21. e) the site has an adequate access that would not create a traffic hazard or have an undue 
environmental impact;  

Agenda Page 78 Agenda Item 3h



The existing access would be retained and unaltered. 
 

22. f) the proposal will be served by public transport and provide pedestrian and cycle links to 
adjacent areas;  
The location is well served by public transport with a bus service along Euxton Lane. There 
is also a rail station at Buckshaw Parkway less than 300m from the site, which provides 
excellent accessibility to a large catchment. The location is easily accessible on foot or 
bicycle to residential areas. 

 
23. h) adequate screening is provided where necessary to any unsightly feature of the 

development and security fencing is located to the internal edge of any perimeter 
landscaping;  
There is currently a reasonable level of screening provided along the northern boundary of 
the site with a railway line separating the site from a housing development to the north. The 
existing perimeter boundaries would be retained and are necessarily secure given the 
shared boundary with the railway line.   

 
24. j) the development makes safe and convenient access provision for people with disabilities; 

The proposed building would have a level or ramped access, there would be an internal lift 
and the development would need to comply with DDA regulations. There would also be four 
disabled parking bays. 
 

Impact on neighbour amenity / noise 
25. The proposed building would be located close to the northern boundary of the site and 

would be at least 40m from the nearest residential properties under development. This is 
considered to be a reasonable separation and should not result in an adverse impact on 
amenity. This is particularly so given the intervening railway line and existing trees and 
vegetation between the site and these properties, which help to filter views of the site.  
 

26. The site currently comprises offices and other commercial businesses and a large area of 
car parking, which have operated for some considerable period of time. As such a certain 
level of noise has already occurred through the everyday operation of these businesses and 
the coming and going of employees and visitors. As such the level of noise and disturbance 
generated is likely to be no greater than that which currently takes place.  

 
Impact on character and appearance of the locality 
27. The proposed development would be commensurate in the context of the existing buildings 

within the business park. Indeed there are already two office buildings of the same design 
on the business park in more prominent positions. The proposed building would be sited to 
the rear of the site adjacent to the railway line and away from the main public highway at 
Euxton Lane. As a result, the proposed building would not be particularly visible and would 
reflect the character and scale of existing buildings within the wider site. Given that the site 
is currently a business park, the proposed development would be in keeping with the 
appearance of the site and character of the locality.  

 
Impact on highway safety 
28. The site currently has an established vehicular access from Euxton Lane via East Terrace. 

This would be retained within the proposed development and is unaffected.  
 
29. There is currently a large area of car parking at the site, and it is noted that the existing 

building at Solutions House would be demolished, and additional car parking spaces 
provided in its place. The car parking area at the site would be reconfigured to 
accommodate these changes. Overall the reconfiguration of the car parking would result in 
an additional 10 parking spaces. However, the proposed development would result in a 
larger office building in relation to the existing office building that would be removed, 
resulting in a requirement for an additional 29 parking spaces. This would result in a shortfall 
of 19 spaces, however, LCC Highways consider that this is acceptable given that a 
significant number of the car parking spaces across the site are for overspill parking and not 
allocated to any particular building. 

 

Agenda Page 79 Agenda Item 3h



30. In addition to the above, the site is located in a sustainable location with access to a railway 
station at Buckshaw Parkway, less than 300m away, bus services along Euxton Lane and 
good walkways and cycleways to nearby residential development. It is also noted that 
secure covered cycle storage would be provided on site as part of the development.   

 
Economic impact 
31. The proposal is in accordance with the Framework in that it supports economic growth. The 

local development framework supports the provision of employment premises and 
development that contributes to local economic growth. This also contributes to one of the 
four main strands of the Council’s corporate strategy – a strong local economy. 

 
CONCLUSION 
32. The proposed development would contribute to economic growth within Chorley. There 

would be no unacceptable detrimental impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers or 
on the appearance of the site and character of the area. In addition, there would be no 
unacceptable impact on the highway network. On the basis of the above, it is recommended 
that planning permission be granted. 

 
RELEVANT POLICIES:  In accordance with s.38 (6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
(2004), the application is to be determined in accordance with the development plan (the Central 
Lancashire Core Strategy, the Adopted Chorley Local Plan 2012-2026 and adopted 
Supplementary Planning Guidance), unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Consideration of the proposal has had regard to guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) and the development plan. The specific policies/ 
guidance considerations are contained within the body of the report. 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY OF THE SITE 
 
Ref: 06/00266/FULMAJ Decision: PERFPP      Decision Date: 28 July 2006 
Description: Proposed 2no. three storey office units and service roads, landscape areas and 
car parking. 
 
Ref: 14/01189/FULMAJ Decision: PERFPP      Decision Date: 13 February 2015. 
Description: Section 73 application to vary condition 1 (approved plans) and 7 (external 
materials) attached planning approval 06/00266/FULMAJ to amend external materials and 
appearance of the building. 
 
Ref: 15/01148/FULMAJ Decision: PERFPP      Decision Date: 31 March 2016 
Description: Section 73 Application to vary condition 1 (approved plans) of planning approval 
14/01189/FULMAJ, to allow revised external car parking layout and repositioning of office block. 
 
Suggested Conditions 
 

No. Condition 

1.  The proposed development must be begun not later than three years from the date 
of this permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2.  The external facing materials, detailed on the approved plans, shall be used and 
no others substituted unless alternatives are first submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, when the development shall then be 
carried out in accordance with the alternatives approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the materials used are visually appropriate to the locality. 
 

3.  The parking and associated manoeuvring facilities detailed on plan reference 
BS.15-121(A)/03, received on 11 October 2017, and identified as ‘Proposed N7 – 
Site Area 61 Spaces’ shall be made available in accordance with the approved 

Agenda Page 80 Agenda Item 3h



plan prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted and shall be 
retained at all times thereafter specifically for this purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate car parking on site and in the interest 
of highway safety. 
 

4.  The existing building identified as Solutions House on plan reference BS.15-
121(A)/02 received on 11 October 2017 shall be demolished in full following the 
first occupation of the office building hereby approved and the land shall be made 
available for parking as set out on plan reference BS.15-121(A)/03 received on 11 
October 2017. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate car parking on site and in the interest 
of highway safety. 
 

5.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 

Title Drawing Reference Received date 

Location plan BS.15-121(A)/01 11 October 2017 

Proposed site plan BS.15-121(A)/03 11 October 2017 

Proposed floor plans BS.15-121(A)/04 11 October 2017 

Proposed elevations BS.15-121(A)/05 11 October 2017 

Proposed bin store detail BS.15-121(A)/06 28 November 2017 

 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

6.  The premises hereby approved shall be used for no purpose other than those in 
Class B1 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended). 
 
Reason: To define the permission and in the interests of maintaining neighbour 
amenity. 
 

7.  Prior to the commencement of any development, other than demolition and 
enabling works, a surface water drainage scheme, based on the hierarchy of 
drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an 
assessment of the site conditions shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  
  
The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public 
sewerage system either directly or indirectly.  
  
The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details.  
  
Reason:  To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution.  This condition is imposed in light of 
policies within the NPPF and NPPG. 

 

8.  Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage management and 
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority and agreed in writing.  The sustainable drainage management 
and maintenance plan shall include as a minimum:  
 
a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident’s management 
company; and 

Agenda Page 81 Agenda Item 3h



b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of 
the sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water 
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.  
 
The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved plan. 
 
Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the 
sustainable drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution 
during the lifetime of the development. 
 

9.  Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied, provision for cycle 
parking, in accordance with approved details, specifically broxap Wardale bike 
shelter size 3.6m (8 cycles with Sheffield cycle hoops), shall have been provided in 
all respects and made available for use, and shall thereafter be retained. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate on site provision for cycle parking. 
 

 
 
 

Agenda Page 82 Agenda Item 3h



Agenda Page 83
Agenda Item 3h



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

Report of Meeting Date 

Director (Customer & Digital) Development Control Committee 12 December 2017 

 

PLANNING APPEALS AND DECISIONS RECEIVED BETWEEN 
31 OCTOBER 2017 AND 30 NOVEMBER 2017 

 

PLANNING APPEALS LODGED 
 
Planning Application: 17/00013/OUT - Inspectorate Reference: APP/D2320/W/17/3174245 
 
Appeal by Mr & Mrs Collins against the delegated decision to refuse outline planning permission 
for the erection of 2 no. detached dwellings (Resubmission of planning application 16/00863/OUT). 
 
Land North Of Little Bluestone Cottage, Blue Stone Lane, Mawdesley.  
 
Inspectorate letter confirming appeal valid received 11 May 2017. 
 
Planning Application: 17/00621/FUL - Inspectorate Reference: APP/D2320/W/17/3187337 
 
Appeal by Mr Ian Austin against the Development Control Committee decision to refuse full 
planning permission for the demolition of existing storage buildings and erection of one detached 
bungalow. 
 
Back House Farm, Hall Lane, Mawdesley, Ormskirk, L40 2QY. 
  
Inspectorate letter confirming appeal valid received 31 October 2017. 
 
Planning Application: 17/00626/FULHH - Inspectorate Reference: APP/D2320/D/17/3188443 

 
Appeal by Mr Stuart Hirons against the delegated decision to refuse full planning permission for the 
erection of front gable, front porch and front dormer extension, the demolition of attached flat 
roofed rear garage and replacement with a brick built pitched roof garage, demolition of rear 
conservatory, erection of three rear dormer extensions and raising of the existing roof height. 
 
Rosewood,19 Oakmere Avenue, Withnell, Chorley. 
 
Inspectorate letter confirming appeal valid received 6 November 2017. 
 

Planning Application: 17/00625/FUL - Inspectorate Reference: APP/D2320/W/17/3188344 

 
Appeal by Mr Stephen Nolan against the Development Control Committee decision to refuse full 
planning permission for the erection of stables building following removal of existing stables. 
 
Laneside Farm, Brown House Lane, Higher Wheelton, Chorley, PR6 8HR. 
 
Inspectorate letter confirming appeal valid received 8 November 2017. 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Page 85 Agenda Item 4



Planning Application: 17/00781/FULHH - Inspectorate Reference: APP/D2320/D/17/3188786 
 
Appeal by Mr & Mrs Duncan against the delegated decision to refuse full planning permission for a 
single storey rear and side extension and partial demolition of existing detached rear garage. 
 
5 Tennyson Avenue, Chorley, PR7 3HX. 
 
Inspectorate letter confirming appeal valid received 9 November 2017. 
 
Planning Application: 17/00514/FULMAJ - Inspectorate Reference: APP/D2320/W/17/3189122 
 
Appeal by Ms Ann Nikolakis against the Development Control Committee decision to refuse full 
planning permission for a rehabilitation centre, comprising pool complex, gym and therapy building, 
seventeen accommodation cabins,  car park, access road, running (sprint) track and associated 
plant.  
 
Land 100M East of Wheelton House, Brinscall Mill Road, Wheelton. 
 
Inspectorate letter confirming appeal valid received 22 November 2017. 
 
Planning Application: 17/00647/OUT - Inspectorate Reference: APP/D2320/W/17/3189781 
 
Appeal by Mrs Jenny Taylor against the Development Control Committee decision to refuse outline 
planning permission for the erection of a dormer bungalow (all matters reserved save for access). 
 
Land Adjacent to 65 Studfold, Astley Village. 
 
Inspectorate letter confirming appeal valid received 22 November 2017. 
 
APPEAL DECISIONS 
 
Planning Application: 17/00302/FULHH - Inspectorate Reference: APP/D2320/D/17/3181376 
 
Appeal by Mr Paul Holland against the delegated decision to refuse full planning permission for a  

single storey front extension and single storey rear extension. 

 

46 Mavis Drive, Coppull, Chorley, PR7 5AF. 

 

Split decision - Appeal dismissed insofar as it relates to the single storey front extension and 
allowed insofar as it relates to the single storey rear extension. 
 

Inspectorate letter received 23 November 2017. 

 
Planning Application: 16/00489/OUTMAJ - Inspectorate Reference: APP/D2320/W/17/3173275 
 
Appeal by Gladman Developments Ltd against the Committee decision to refuse outline planning 
permission for up to 165 dwellings (30% affordable), planting and landscaping, informal open 
space, children's play area, surface water attenuation, 2 vehicular access points from School Lane 
and associated ancillary works. All matters to be reserved with the exception of the main site 
access. 
 
Land Between Pear Tree Lane And School Lane, Pear Tree Lane, Euxton. 
 
Appeal dismissed. 
 
Inspectorate letter received 20 November 2017. 
 

 

 

Agenda Page 86 Agenda Item 4



PLANNING APPEALS WITHDRAWN 

None 
 
ENFORCEMENT APPEALS LODGED 
 
None  
 
ENFORCEMENT APPEAL DECISIONS 
 
None 
 
ENFORCEMENT APPEALS WITHDRAWN 
 
None 
 
 
    

Report Author Ext Date Doc ID 

Adele Hayes 5228 1 December 2017 *** 

 

Agenda Page 87 Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 7 November 2017 of Development Control Committee
	3a 17/00464/FULMAJ - Pines Hotel, Preston Road, Clayton-le-Woods, Chorley, PR6 7ED
	Item 3a Location Plan

	3b 17/00913/OUT - Land Adjacent to 8 Miller Avenue, Abbey Village
	Item 3b Location plan

	3c 17/00924/FUL - Crossfields, Bury Lane, Withnell, Chorley, PR6 8BH
	Item 3c Location Plan

	3d 17/00962/FULMAJ - Land Adjacent to 13 and 15 Halliwell Street, Chorley
	Halliwell St Loc Plan.pdf

	3e 17/00925/FUL - 4-6 Cleveland Street, Chorley, PR7 1BH
	3g 17/00961/FULMAJ - Armlee Nurseries, Wigan Road, Clayton-le-Woods, PR25 5SB
	Item 3g Location Plan

	3h 17/00999/FULMAJ - Chorley Technology and Business Centre, East Terrace, Euxton
	Item 3h Location Plan

	4 Planning Appeals and Decisions Received Between 31 October 2017 and 30 November 2017

